

AGREEMENT

BETWEEN



AND



**UNITED STEEL, PAPER & FORESTRY, RUBBER, MANUFACTURING, ENERGY,
ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICE WORKERS INTERNATIONAL**

JANUARY 2, 202~~3~~9 to JANUARY 1, 202~~3~~6

**CITY OF GAHANNA
AND
UNITED STEEL, PAPER & FORESTRY, RUBBER, MANUFACTURING, ENERGY,
ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICE WORKERS INTERNATIONAL**

Article No.	<u>Description</u>	<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE 1	AGREEMENT	4
ARTICLE 2	RECOGNITION.....	5
ARTICLE 3	TOTAL AGREEMENT	6
ARTICLE 4	NONDISCRIMINATION	6
ARTICLE 5	REPRESENTATION	6
ARTICLE 6	EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	7
ARTICLE 7	NO STRIKE	9
ARTICLE 8	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	9
ARTICLE 9	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	10
ARTICLE 10	ARBITRATION.....	14
ARTICLE 11	LABOR RELATION MEETINGS	15
ARTICLE 12	WAGES.....	16
ARTICLE 13	CLASSIFICATIONS AND PAY PLAN ADMINISTRATION	19
ARTICLE 14	RATES FOR EMPLOYEES FOLLOWING CERTAIN PERSONNEL ACTIONS 22	
ARTICLE 15	LAYOFF OF EMPLOYEES.....	23
ARTICLE 16	HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME.....	24
ARTICLE 17	UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT	28
ARTICLE 18	VACATION AND PERSONAL LEAVE.....	29
ARTICLE 19	HOLIDAYS	31
ARTICLE 20	INSURANCE.....	32
ARTICLE 21	SICK LEAVE.....	35
ARTICLE 22	MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS	37
ARTICLE 23	DUTY INJURY LEAVE	38
ARTICLE 24	SPECIAL LEAVES	40
ARTICLE 25	LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM.....	42

ARTICLE 26	TUITION REIMBURSEMENT	45
ARTICLE 27	PERSONAL EXPENSES	46
ARTICLE 28	OUTSOURCING	47
ARTICLE 29	SAFETY COMMITTEE	47
ARTICLE 30	MISCELLANEOUS.....	47
ARTICLE 31	DEFINITIONS	49
ARTICLE 32	OBLIGATION TO NEGOTIATE	50
ARTICLE 33	WORK RULES AND INFORMATION ORDERS.....	50
ARTICLE 34	DURATION OF AGREEMENT AND SEPARABILITY	50
ARTICLE 35	EXECUTION	52
LETTER OF AGREEMENT	Error! Bookmark not defined.	
REGARDING SAFETY COMMITTEE	Error! Bookmark not defined.	

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is made for the purpose of promoting cooperation and harmonious relations between the City and the Union as a means to provide efficient services to the residents of the City.

ARTICLE 1 AGREEMENT

1.01 Agreement. This Agreement is made between the City of Gahanna, hereinafter referred to as "City," and the United Steel, Paper & Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial and Service Workers International, hereinafter referred to as "Union." It is understood by the parties hereto that the portions hereof regarding wages, fringe benefits and other economic conditions of employment are subject to enactment of an appropriate ordinance by the City Council pursuant to the City Charter and that the failure of the City Council to enact an ordinance accurately and thoroughly providing for the wages, fringe benefits and economic conditions as approved herein shall require the City, on the request of the union, to immediately reopen good faith negotiations on all wages, hours and terms and conditions of employment. It is further understood by the parties that certain non-economic provisions agreed upon herein represent changes in portions of existing ordinances or administrative rules, that these negotiated changes represent the latest will of the City as to these items, that revisions to these ordinances and administrative rules, incorporating these negotiated changes, will be promulgated by the City at the earliest possible date and that, in any event, conflicts between existing ordinances or administrative rules and the provisions of this Agreement shall be resolved in favor of the Agreement provisions.

~~1.02 Purpose. This Agreement is made for the purpose of promoting cooperation and harmonious relations between the City and the Union as a means to provide efficient services to the residents of the City.~~

1.03 Legal References. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall alter the authority conferred by the Charter of the City, ordinances and resolutions of the City Council, City Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations, applicable State and Federal laws, and the Constitution of the State of Ohio and the United States of America upon any City official or in any way abridge or reduce such authority. Should any part of this Agreement be held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction or should compliance with or enforcement of any part of this Agreement be restrained by any such tribunal pending a final determination as to its validity, such invalidation or temporary restraint shall not invalidate or affect the remaining portions herein or the application of such portions to persons or circumstances other than those to whom or to which it had been held invalid or has been restrained. In the event of invalidation of any portions of this Agreement by a court of competent jurisdiction, and upon written request by either party, the parties to this Agreement shall meet at mutually agreeable times in an attempt to modify the invalidated provisions by good faith negotiations.

1.04 Sanctity of Agreement. No changes in this Agreement shall be negotiated during the duration of this Agreement unless there is a written accord by and between the parties hereto to

do so, which written accord shall contain a list of these matters to be the subject of such negotiations. Any negotiated changes, to be effective and incorporated in this Agreement, must be in writing and signed by the parties. Except as provided herein, neither party shall attempt to change this Agreement during the life of said Agreement. Any past practice that has been continuous and is known and sanctioned will not be altered until sufficient prior notification has been served on members of the Bargaining Unit.

1.05 Enforceability of Agreement. The City asserts and believes that the provisions of this Agreement are not violative of the City Charter, ordinances or resolutions, and are, therefore, enforceable in a court of law, and that the provisions contained herein do not represent any illegal delegation of authority.

ARTICLE 2 RECOGNITION

2.01 Recognition. The City hereby recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose of collective bargaining in any and all matters relating to wages, hours and working conditions of all employees in the Bargaining Unit. The Bargaining Unit shall include all non-uniformed classified employees listed in this Agreement.

2.02 Dues and other Deductions. The City agrees to deduct Bargaining Unit membership dues in the amount certified by the Union to the City, the first pay period of each month from the pay of any employee who submits a written authorization requesting the deduction. If a dues deduction is desired, the employee shall sign a payroll deduction form which shall be furnished by the Union and presented to the appropriate payroll clerk. The City agrees to furnish to the International Treasurer once each calendar month, a warrant in the aggregate amount of the deduction made for that calendar month, together with a listing of the members for whom deductions were made, and mailed to the International USW, AFL-CIO, 5 Gateway Center, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222.

Any member may at any time withdraw his or her authorization for payroll deductions of dues or other deductions by submitting a letter to the City Finance Director expressing the member's desire to withdraw his or her authorization. The member will submit a copy of the letter to the Union President.

The City's obligation to make authorized deductions under this Section will terminate automatically upon termination of employment, transfer of a member to a job classification outside the bargaining unit, lay off from work or an unpaid leave of absence longer than thirty (30) days or submission by a member to the City of a written withdrawal of authorization for deductions.

2.03 It is specifically agreed that the Employer assumes no obligation, financial or otherwise, arising out of the provisions of this article. The Union hereby agrees that it will indemnify and hold the Employer harmless from any claims, actions, or proceedings by any employee arising from deductions made by the Employer pursuant to this article. Once the funds are

remitted to the Union, their disposition thereafter shall be the sole and exclusive obligation and responsibility of the Union.

ARTICLE 3 TOTAL AGREEMENT

3.01 This Agreement represents the entire agreement between the City and the Union and unless specifically and expressly set forth in the express written provisions of this Agreement, all rules, regulations, benefits and practices previously and presently in effect may be modified or discontinued at the sole discretion of the City, without any such modification or discontinuance being subject to any grievance or appeal procedure herein contained. This provision applies to all portions of the collective bargaining agreement, both the economic provisions and the non-economic provisions, which are considered subportions of the entire Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 NONDISCRIMINATION

4.01 Nondiscrimination. Neither party will discriminate against any employee based on ~~age, sex, marital status, race, color, religion, national origin, political affiliation, sexual orientation, military status, gender identification, ancestry, or disability~~ **age, race, color, religion, creed, national origin or ancestry, ethnicity, marital status, sexual orientation, sex (including pregnancy), gender (including gender nonconformity or status as a transgender or transsexual individual), military and veteran's status, political affiliation, physical or mental disability, genetic information, or any status protected by applicable federal, state, or local law.** The City **and the Union** agrees not to discriminate against any employee on the basis of ~~his~~ **the employee's** membership or non-membership in the Bargaining Unit, not to discriminate, interfere, restrain or coerce any employee because of or regarding ~~his~~ **the employee's** activities as an officer or other representative of the Union. The Union, within the terms of its Constitution and Bylaws, and the City agree not to interfere with the desire of any employee to become and remain a member of the Union, and the Union agrees not to let membership or non-membership in the Union affect their on-the-job relationship with employees. The City agrees to apply all terms of this Agreement uniformly to all employees of the Bargaining Unit. All references in this Agreement to the male gender shall be construed to be equally ~~applicable to females~~ **regardless of individual identification.**

ARTICLE 5 REPRESENTATION

5.01 Union Official. The highest ranking Union official in the Bargaining Unit, upon election to that post and as long as ~~he~~ **the employee** continues in that post, or that person's designee, will be permitted sufficient time off to attend to Union and Agreement matters within ~~his/her~~ **the employee's** capacity. However, in no event will more than thirty-two (32) hours per two (2) month period be allowed. These hours will only be used to attend to Agreement matters or to attend or perform scheduled Union functions that are necessary to the operation of the Union. The person taking time off under this Article to perform these functions bears the ultimate responsibility for insuring that ~~his/her~~ **the employee's** time cards sheets accurately reflect the amount of time expended and the activity performed. When a Union official is requested by the City to attend a

meeting or otherwise attend to labor relations matters, the time spent does not count towards the thirty-two hour allotment. Whenever such highest ranking official is absent due to approved leave (i.e., sick leave, injury leave, vacation leave, etc.) or City Administration- authorized training which is of a duration of more than five (5) workdays, the next highest ranking Union official who is a member of the Bargaining Unit shall perform these functions during such absence. During such service in this post, the above-designated officials shall continue their entitlement to wages, fringe benefits, seniority accrual and all other benefits allowed a Bargaining Unit member as though they were at all times performing their job-related duties.

5.02 During their terms in office, Union officials shall continue to be required to report to their supervisors at their assigned starting time, and they shall be required to apprise their supervisors of their whereabouts at all working times while they are performing the duties allowed by this Section. In addition, the Union officials will be required to drop or forego any of the activities allowed by this Section upon the direction of their supervisors, for the purpose of assisting in emergency work. But for an emergency situation, sufficient time to perform Union functions will not be unreasonably limited by the City or the supervisors, nor will the Union officials devote unnecessary City-paid time to these functions. None of the duties of the Union officials herein described may be conducted on City-paid overtime hours.

5.03 Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude the highest ranking Union official in the Bargaining Unit from also serving as a Grievance Representative, or as Grievance Chairman.

ARTICLE 6 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

6.01 Corrective Action for Cause. No Bargaining Unit employee shall be reduced in pay or position, suspended, removed or reprimanded except for just cause. The terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and conditions of the City's Policy and Procedure Manual apply to each employee. Any dispute over the application of any term or condition of this Agreement or over any term or condition of the City's Policy and Procedure manual is subject to the Grievance and Arbitration Procedures of this Agreement.

6.02 Representative. If a Bargaining Unit employee is notified to report for an investigation, and there is a reasonable probability that the investigation will result in disciplinary action for that employee, then upon the employee's request, ~~he~~ the employee shall be provided with an opportunity, before the investigation continues to contact a Grievance Representative for the purpose of representation.

6.03 Predisciplinary Conference. Prior to any disciplinary actions resulting in time off, the employee shall have the opportunity for a predisciplinary conference. At such conference, before either the Mayor or his designee, the employee may rebut the charges with evidence and/or witnesses. Employees may waive this hearing. Whether or not employees participate in the pre-disciplinary conference, employees may appeal discipline according to the provisions of this Agreement. **Discipline which does not result in a loss of pay shall not be subject to arbitration.**

For purposes of this Article, a decision issued by the Mayor as a result of the pre-disciplinary hearing will be considered a Step 3 grievance answer, which can be appealed directly to arbitration.

6.04 Progressive Action. **Except in cases of serious misconduct,** the principles of progressive corrective action will be followed with respect to minor infractions. The progression will at least include an oral reprimand, a written reprimand, and a suspension for the same or related offenses prior to dismissal.

6.05 Review of Personnel Files. Employees may review their personnel file at reasonable times upon written request. Employees may request, through their supervisor, that the City official responsible for their personnel file remove inaccurate materials from their file. If the City official declines the request, the employee shall have the right to have a memorandum attached to the document in question, stating the employee's concerns.

6.06 Duration of Records. All discipline actions of record will be maintained in each employee's personnel file throughout ~~his~~ **the employee's** period of employment, with the exception that any of the following records will be removed from the file upon the request of the employee, according to the following schedule:

A. Oral Reprimand. An oral reprimand shall be removed after ~~six (6)~~ **twelve (12)** months, at the employee's request, provided that no further discipline of the same or similar nature is imposed within ~~six (6)~~ **twelve (12)** months of the oral reprimand.

B. Written Reprimand. A written reprimand shall be removed after two (2) years, at the employee's request, provided that no further discipline of the same or similar nature is imposed within two (2) years of the written reprimand.

C. Suspension/Reduction. A suspension shall be removed, at the employee's request, three (3) years after the suspension. The Mayor may determine that it is necessary to retain a record of suspension for a period of time in excess of three (3) years, up to a maximum of three (3) additional years, based upon the seriousness of the offense and the member's overall work record since being suspended. Should the Mayor make this determination, it shall be made between one hundred eighty (180) and ninety (90) days before expiration of the three (3) year retention period, with written notice to the affected member. This notice shall set forth the Mayor's specific reasons for the determination and the time period of the extended retention period. The member may grieve the Mayor's determination, including any challenge to the length of the extended retention period, directly to arbitration under Article X.

D. Destruction of Discipline Records. Copies of disciplinary records which have been removed from personnel files will be destroyed in accordance with the Records Retention Schedule as adopted and modified from time to time by the City Records Commission.

E. **Last Chance Agreement. The parties explicitly acknowledge the potential use and validity of last chance agreements. Such agreements, when entered into by the Employer**

and the Union shall not require the ratification of the bargaining unit as a whole, nor the legislative body for the City, in order to be enforceable. Last chance agreements, including the opportunity to enter into the agreement, content, and stipulations are individualized and non-precedent setting.

ARTICLE 7 NO STRIKE

7.01 General. The City and the Union agree that the grievance procedures provided herein are adequate to provide a fair and final determination of all grievances arising under this Agreement. It is the desire of the City and the Union to avoid work stoppages and strikes.

7.02 Strike Defined. Neither the Union nor any employee of the Bargaining Unit, for the duration of this Agreement, shall, directly or indirectly, call, sanction, encourage, finance, participate, or assist in any way in any strike, sympathy strike, walkout, concerted "sick leave" or mass resignation, work stoppage or slowdown, or other unlawful interference with the normal operations of the City for the duration of this Agreement. A breach of this Article shall be sufficient grounds for discipline, which may include dismissal.

7.03 Notification. The Union shall, at all times, cooperate with the City in continuing operations in a normal manner and shall actively discourage any attempt to violate this Article. In the event of a violation of this Article, the Union shall promptly notify all employees in a reasonable and expeditious manner within a twenty-four (24) hour period that the strike, work stoppage or slowdown, or other unlawful interference with normal operations of the City is in violation of this Agreement, unlawful, and not sanctioned or approved by the Union or Bargaining Unit. The Union shall instruct the employees to return to work immediately.

ARTICLE 8 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

8.01 Responsibilities. The Mayor or designated Department Head(s) may, subject to the applicable sections of law, promulgate rules and regulations relative to the management of the employees, subject only to any such previously agreed to rules, regulations and Articles of this Agreement between the City and the Union as may be set forth in writing. Except to the extent otherwise limited or modified by this Agreement the City retains the right and responsibility:

1. To direct the work of employees.
2. To determine the mission of the employees.
3. To determine the size and composition of the workforce.
4. To suspend, discipline or discharge employees for just cause.
5. To relieve employees from duty because of lack of work or lack of funds.
6. To take actions as may be necessary to carry out the mission of the Departments in emergencies.
7. To hire, schedule, promote, demote, transfer and assign employees.
8. To recruit, select and determine the qualifications and characteristics of new hires.

9. To schedule or not schedule overtime as required in the manner most advantageous to the requirements of efficient governmental operations.
10. To train or retrain employees as appropriate.
11. To ensure that all necessary tools as determined by the Department Head; facilities, vehicles supplies, uniforms and equipment, are furnished Bargaining Unit employees and in the best and safest possible working conditions so that employees may safely and effectively carry out their duties.

8.02. The foregoing specific rights shall in no way be a limitation on general Management rights of the Employer to direct or control the work force and general affairs of this Employer.

ARTICLE 9 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

9.01 Grievance Defined. A grievance is a dispute or controversy regarding the interpretation or implementation of the collective bargaining Agreement between the parties.

9.02 Qualifications. A grievance can be initiated by any aggrieved employee. Where a group of employees desire to file a grievance involving a situation affecting each member in the same manner, one employee selected by such group shall process the grievance as the designated representative of the group. **In the event of a group or class grievance, each member of the group or class shall be identified.**

9.03 Establishment of Grievance Representatives. The Union will designate not more than three (3) Grievance Representatives. The Grievance Representatives shall be selected by the Union but every effort will be made by the Union to provide full membership coverage. One Grievance Representative selected by the Union shall be designated Grievance Chairman.

9.04 Duties of Grievance Chairman. The authorized functions of the Grievance Chairman, and a named alternate who shall serve as Grievance Chairman in the absence or unavailability of the Grievance Chairman, shall include the following:

1. Representing the employee in investigating and processing grievances.
2. Replacing a Grievance Representative who is absent or unavailable.
3. General supervising and coordinating grievances in process, and Grievance Representatives.
4. Acting as liaison between the City Administration and the Union on matters concerning grievances and this procedure.

The Grievance Chairman shall be released from ~~his~~ the employee's normal duty hours upon approval of ~~his~~ the employee's supervisor, to participate in the aforementioned duties without loss of pay or benefits. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld, and the withholding of such approval shall result in an automatic equivalent extension of time limits within which a grievant must appeal ~~his~~ the employee's grievance or have it heard. The Grievance Chairman shall be allowed reasonable, necessary time during ~~his~~ the employee's scheduled working hours to perform the aforementioned duties and shall notify ~~his~~ the employee's supervisor in advance of such assignments.

9.05 Grievance Procedures. The following are the implementation steps and procedures for handling employees' grievances:

- A. Preliminary Step. An employee having an individual grievance will first attempt to resolve it informally with ~~his~~ the employee's immediate supervisor. Such attempt at informal resolution shall be made by the employee/grievant within ten (10) of the employee's working days following the time the events or circumstances giving rise to the grievance were first known or should have been known by the employee/grievant; grievances brought to the attention of the supervisor (except for automatic time extensions as hereinafter described) beyond the ten (10) working days time limit shall not be considered. At this Step, there is no requirement that the grievance be submitted, or responded to in writing; however, a Grievance Representative may accompany the grievant should the latter request ~~his~~ the employee's attendance. If the employee is not satisfied with the oral response from ~~his~~ the employee's immediate supervisor at this Step, he may pursue the formal steps which follow. Before a grievance is placed in writing pursuant to Step One, such grievance shall be screened by the Grievance Chairman and the appropriate Grievance Representative.

- B. Step One -- Immediate Supervisor.
 1. When an employee has a grievance in which ~~his~~ the employee's supervisor's oral response in the Preliminary Step is unsatisfactory, ~~he~~ the employee may then submit said grievance in writing to the supervisor on the Grievance Form agreed upon by the parties. Such form must be submitted to the supervisor within seven (7) of the employee's working days following the oral response from the Preliminary Step. **Grievances brought beyond the seven (7) working day time limit shall not be considered.** The supervisor shall date-stamp the form on the date he receives it. Grievances submitted beyond the seven (7) working days time limit shall not be considered.

 2. Within ~~five (5)~~ **seven (7)** of ~~his~~ the employee's working days of ~~his~~ the employee's receipt of the written grievance, the immediate supervisor shall affix his written response to the form, date and sign his response, and return one copy of it to the grievant. If the aggrieved employee does not refer ~~his~~

the employee's grievance to the Second Step of the Procedure within ~~five (5)~~ **seven (7)** of his the employee's working days after the receipt of the decision rendered in this Step, the grievance shall be considered to be satisfactorily resolved.

C. Step Two -- Department Head.

1. Should the employee/grievant not be satisfied with the answer in Step One, within ~~five (5)~~ **seven (7)** of his the employee's working days thereafter ~~he~~ the employee may appeal the grievance to this Step Two by delivering or having delivered a copy of the Grievance Form, containing the written responses at the prior Step and any other pertinent documents, to the office of the Department Head. **Grievances brought beyond the seven (7) working day time limit shall not be considered.** The Department Head shall date-stamp the form, accurately showing the date his office received the form.
2. Within ~~five (5)~~ **seven (7)** of his working days of his receipt of the written grievance, the Department Head shall provide his written response on the Form, date and sign his response, and return one copy of it to the grievant. If the aggrieved employee does not refer his grievance to the Third Step of the Procedure within ~~five (5)~~ **seven (7)** of his working days after the receipt of the decision rendered in this Step, the grievance shall be considered to be satisfactorily resolved.

D. Step Three - Mayor.

1. Should the employee/grievant not be satisfied with the answer in Step Two, within ~~five (5)~~ **seven (7)** of his the employee's working days thereafter, ~~he~~ the employee may appeal the grievance to this Step Three by delivering or having delivered a copy of the Grievance Form containing the written responses at the prior Steps and any other pertinent documents, to the office of the Mayor. **Grievances brought beyond the seven (7) working day time limit shall not be considered.** The Mayor shall date-stamp the form, accurately showing the date his office received the form.
2. Within ten (10) working days of the receipt of his Grievance Form, the Mayor or his designated representative for this purpose shall investigate the grievance, and shall schedule and conduct a meeting to discuss the grievance with the Grievance Chairman or International Representative of the Union. The Grievance Chairman or International Representative of the Union may bring with him to the meeting the employee/grievant and the appropriate Grievance Representative.

3. In the meeting called for at this Step, the Mayor or his representative designated for this purpose shall hear a full explanation of the grievance and the material facts relating thereto.
4. Within ~~five (5)~~ **seven (7)** of his working days of the meeting in this Step, the Mayor shall submit to the International Representative of the Union his written response to the grievance.
5. Should the employee/grievant not be satisfied with the answer at this Step, he shall notify the Grievance Chairman of ~~his~~ **the employee's** desire to implement Article X, Arbitration. The International Representative of the Union will screen all grievances before submitting them to arbitration. Should the Union determine that it desires that the grievance proceed to arbitration pursuant to Article X, the Union shall so notify the City by way of letter to the Mayor stating such intention and thereby invoking the Arbitration procedure. Such written notice shall be ~~mailed~~ **received** within ten (10) days from the date the Mayor submits his response to the International Representative at this Step Three. **Notices received beyond the ten (10) day time limit shall not be considered and are ineligible for arbitration.**

9.06 Time Off for Presenting Grievances. An employee and ~~his~~ **the employee's** Grievance Representative shall be allowed time off from regular duties with pay for attendance at scheduled meetings under the Grievance Procedure with prior approval of their respective supervisors. Grievance Representatives shall be allowed adequate time, as approved by the supervisor, off of the job with pay to conduct a proper investigation of each grievance. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld, and the withholding of such approval shall result in an automatic, equivalent extension of time limits within which a grievant must appeal his grievance or have it heard.

9.07 Grievance Representatives. Grievants and Grievance Representatives shall not receive overtime pay to engage in grievance activities provided for herein; however, grievance meetings at Step Three shall be held at a time agreeable to all parties. The Bargaining Unit shall notify the Mayor, in writing, of the names of Grievance Representatives and the Grievance Chairman within thirty (30) days of their appointment.

9.08 Time Limits. It is the City Administration's and the Union's intention that all time limits in the above Grievance Procedure shall be met. To the end of encouraging thoughtful responses at each Step, however, the grievant and the City Administration's designated representative may mutually agree, at any Step, to short time extensions for the City's answer, but any such agreement must be in writing ~~and signed by the parties~~. Similarly, any Step in the Grievance Procedure may be skipped on any grievance by mutual consent. Where a response from the City is not forthcoming within the specified time limits **it shall be deemed denied and the Union may advance the** grievance ~~will proceed~~ to the next step of the Grievance Procedure.

9.09 Representatives in Meetings. In each step of the Grievance Procedure outlined in this Article, certain specific representatives are given approval to attend the meetings therein prescribed. It is expected that, in the usual grievance, these will be the only representatives in attendance at such meetings. However, it is understood by the parties that, in the interest of resolving grievances at the earliest possible Step of the Grievance Procedure, it may be beneficial that other representatives, not specifically designated, be in attendance. Therefore, it is intended that either party may bring in additional representatives to any meeting in the Grievance Procedure, but only upon advance mutual agreement among the parties specifically designated to attend that such additional representative or representatives has input which may be beneficial in attempting to resolve the grievance.

9.10 Grievance Form. The City Administration and the Union shall develop jointly a Grievance Form. Such Forms will be supplied by the Bargaining Unit. The Form is to be prepared by the employee. Copies of the completed Form, including the action taken, will be distributed as provided in Section 9.05. The jointly developed Grievance Form will be made available to the Grievance Representatives.

9.11 Working Days. For the purposes of counting time, "working days" as used in this Agreement will not include scheduled days off, approved leaves or holidays.

9.12 Nondiscrimination. No employee or official of the Union shall be removed, disciplined, harassed or discriminated against because he has filed or pursued a grievance under this Procedure.

9.13 Grievance Settlement. A grievance which the City and the Union settle shall not serve as a precedent for any other grievance unless the City and the Union agree in writing that it will serve as a precedent.

ARTICLE 10 ARBITRATION

10.01 In the event a grievance as set forth in Article IX is unresolved, either party may have recourse to binding arbitration. Notice of intent to arbitrate must be provided within ten (10) working days of the written response at Step 3 of the grievance procedure.

Upon the serving of notice to arbitrate, ~~the parties will promptly meet to agree upon the selection of an arbitrator~~ **a designated representative of the City and a designated representative of the Union will consult and attempt to select an impartial arbitrator by mutual agreement.** If the parties are unable to mutually agree upon the selection of an arbitrator, ~~they will have recourse to the procedures of the Office of Arbitration Services of the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services~~ **by joint letter the parties will request the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service to submit a panel of fifteen (15) arbitrators (Ohio arbitrators who are domiciled in Ohio and are members of the National Academy of Arbitrators) from which the City and the Union representatives shall select one (1) by mutual agreement. Each party has the right to reject one (1) panel in its entirety. If agreement cannot be reached as to one (1) mutually acceptable arbitrator from the panel, the representatives of the parties shall alternately strike names from the list with the party who**

requested arbitration striking first. The person whose name remains shall be the arbitrator and he shall be jointly notified by the parties of his selection. The parties shall meet and strike names from the list provided by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service until one name remains. That person shall serve as arbitrator.

The arbitrator shall have no authority to add, ~~or to delete~~, **amend, modify, nullify, ignore, add or subtract from provisions** from the contents of this Agreement. **He shall only consider and make an award with respect to the specific issue submitted to him in writing by the City and the Union and shall have no authority to make an award on any other issue not so submitted to him. The arbitrator shall be without power to make an award contrary to or inconsistent with or modifying or varying in any way the application of laws and rules and regulations having the force and effect of law. No liability shall accrue against the City for a date prior to the event circumstance or knowledge of the existence of the grievance giving rise to the grievance, provided that such event or circumstance is within ten (10) working days, plus any written extension of such time period, of the date the grievance was presented in writing. For disciplinary cases, the standard of proof utilized by the arbitrator shall be preponderance of the evidence, according to just cause standards. The arbitrator shall be without the power to order discovery depositions.** The arbitrator's award shall be final and binding.

The arbitrator shall render his decision within thirty (30) days from the closing of the arbitration hearing, except that if post-hearing briefs are to be filed, then the hearing shall be deemed closed on the date set for submitting the briefs to the arbitrator. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator will be shared jointly by the parties. Each party will bear its own expenses.

ARTICLE 11 LABOR RELATION MEETINGS

11.01 The City Administration and the Union recognize the benefit of exploration and study of current and potential problems and differences. Accordingly, the Union and the City Administration agree to establish a joint study committee to function during the term of this Agreement to develop approaches and possible solutions to matters of vital concern to both.

The types of matters which can be the subject of these discussions are such things as major changes in operations contemplated by the City Administration which will affect members of the Union, written policy rules and regulations of the City, and concerns of the bargaining unit relative to equipment, uniforms, etc.

The Committee shall study, explore and make recommendations to the Union and the City Administration during the term of this Agreement concerning labor relations problems referred to the Committee by the parties. The Committee shall consist of the three (3) members of the negotiating team from the Union and the Mayor and/or his designee(s).

The Committee shall meet at least once each calendar quarter and may meet at such other times as agreed to by the City and the Union. The date and time of Committee meetings shall be

set by mutual agreement between the City and the Union. The Union, at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the time set for a Committee meeting, shall submit to the Mayor or his designee a list of all subjects it wishes to place on the agenda for discussion at the meeting. The City, through the Mayor or his designee, shall have the same opportunity to submit agenda items to the Union.

Persons representing either party who are specialists in the subject matter under discussion may be brought into committee meetings by agreement of the parties.

The Committee's authority shall be limited to discussion, exploration and study of subjects referred to it by the Union and the City Administration. Any Committee recommendations to the Union and the City Administration are on a confidential basis; likewise, there shall be no publication that the Committee is meeting on any specific subject without the advance approval of the Union President and the Mayor.

The Committee shall have no authority to bargain for the Union and the City Administration on any issue. The Committee shall not engage in collective bargaining nor in any way modify, add to or delete from the provisions of this Agreement. To the extent that mutual agreement may be reached, the Committee may endeavor to find ways of accomplishing joint objectives consistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

Through these meetings, the Union and the City Administration agree to discuss legitimate and reasonable efforts to maintain and improve the skill, ability and service delivery of the Union and the elimination of unnecessary inefficiencies where such can be shown to exist.

ARTICLE 12 WAGES

12.01

The following pay ranges and hourly rates are as the “Civilian Pay Plan,” and are effective as of January 2, ~~2020~~ **2023**, reflecting a ~~3%~~ **3.25%** increase:

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	-	A	B	C	D	E	-
C-2		12.1437	13.4827	14.9247	16.3358	17.5718	
C-4		14.3994	15.7384	17.1186	18.5091	19.9305	
C-6		16.3564	17.9838	19.3331	20.7751	22.2068	
C-8		18.7975	20.2086	21.7227	23.0205	24.4213	
C-10		20.7751	22.5055	23.896	25.338	26.6976	
C-12		22.969	24.6891	26.162	27.604	28.9018	
C-14A		25.7397	27.604	28.9018	30.3129	31.827	
C-16		26.8624	28.9121	30.3026	31.827	33.0733	

C-17

27.4495 29.5095 30.8897 32.4038 33.6604

PAY RANGE

	P	A	B	C	D	E	F
C-14B	22.969	24.6894	26.162	27.604	28.9018	30.3129	31.827

PAY RANGE

	A	B	C	D	E
C-2	<u>13.30196</u>	<u>14.76867</u>	<u>16.34820</u>	<u>17.89390</u>	<u>19.24778</u>
C-4	<u>15.77280</u>	<u>17.23952</u>	<u>18.75136</u>	<u>20.27448</u>	<u>21.83146</u>
C-6	<u>17.91646</u>	<u>19.69908</u>	<u>21.17708</u>	<u>22.75661</u>	<u>24.32486</u>
C-8	<u>20.59039</u>	<u>22.13608</u>	<u>23.79459</u>	<u>25.21618</u>	<u>26.75059</u>
C-10	<u>22.75661</u>	<u>24.65205</u>	<u>26.17519</u>	<u>27.75472</u>	<u>29.24399</u>
C-12	<u>25.15976</u>	<u>27.04393</u>	<u>28.65732</u>	<u>30.23685</u>	<u>31.65843</u>
C-14A	<u>28.19474</u>	<u>30.23685</u>	<u>31.65843</u>	<u>33.20413</u>	<u>34.86263</u>
C-16	<u>29.42452</u>	<u>31.66972</u>	<u>33.19284</u>	<u>34.86263</u>	<u>36.22780</u>
C-17	<u>30.06761</u>	<u>32.32410</u>	<u>33.83593</u>	<u>35.49445</u>	<u>36.87091</u>

PAY RANGE

	P	A	B	C	D	E	F
C-14B	<u>25.15976</u>	<u>27.04393</u>	<u>28.65732</u>	<u>30.23685</u>	<u>31.65843</u>	<u>33.20413</u>	<u>34.86263</u>

12.02 The following pay ranges and hourly rates are hereby established as the “Civilian Pay Plan,” and are to become effective on January 2, 2021 **2024**, reflecting a 3% **3.25%** increase:

PAY RANGE

	A	B	C	D	E
C-2	12.50801	13.88718	15.37244	16.82587	18.09895
C-4	14.83138	16.21055	17.63216	19.06437	20.52842
C-6	16.84709	18.52331	19.91309	21.39835	22.873
C-8	19.36143	20.81486	22.37438	23.71112	25.15394
C-10	21.39835	23.18067	24.61288	26.09814	27.49853
C-12	23.65807	25.42977	26.94686	28.43212	29.76885
C-14A	26.51189	28.43212	29.76885	31.22229	32.78181
C-16	27.66827	29.77946	31.21168	32.78181	34.0655
C-17	28.27299	30.39479	31.81639	33.37591	34.67021

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	<u>P</u>	<u>A</u>	<u>B</u>	<u>C</u>	<u>D</u>	<u>E</u>	<u>F</u>
C-14B	23.65807	25.42977	26.94686	28.43212	29.76885	31.22229	32.78181

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	<u>A</u>	<u>B</u>	<u>C</u>	<u>D</u>	<u>E</u>
C-2	13.73427	15.24866	16.87952	18.47545	19.87334
C-4	16.28542	17.79980	19.36078	20.93340	22.54098
C-6	18.49874	20.33930	21.86534	23.49620	25.11542
C-8	21.25958	22.85550	24.56792	26.03571	27.61998
C-10	23.49620	25.45324	27.02588	28.65674	30.19442
C-12	25.97746	27.92286	29.58868	31.21954	32.68733
C-14A	29.11106	31.21954	32.68733	34.28326	35.99567
C-16	30.38081	32.69898	34.27161	35.99567	37.40521
C-17	31.04481	33.37463	34.93560	36.64802	38.06921

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	<u>P</u>	<u>A</u>	<u>B</u>	<u>C</u>	<u>D</u>	<u>E</u>	<u>F</u>
C-14B	25.97746	27.92286	29.58868	31.21954	32.68733	34.28326	35.99567

12.03 The following pay ranges and hourly rates are hereby established as the “Civilian Pay Plan,” and are to become effective on January 2, 2022 2025, reflecting a 3% 3.25% increase:

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>A</u>	<u>B</u>	<u>C</u>	<u>D</u>	<u>E</u>	<u>-</u>
C-2	-	12.88325	14.3038	15.83361	17.33065	18.64192	-
C-4	-	15.27632	16.69687	18.16112	19.6363	21.14427	-
C-6	-	17.3525	19.07901	20.51049	22.0403	23.55919	-
C-8	-	19.94227	21.4393	23.04561	24.42245	25.90856	-
C-10	-	22.0403	23.87608	25.35127	26.88108	28.32348	-
C-12	-	24.36781	26.19267	27.75527	29.28508	30.66192	-
C-14A	-	27.30725	29.28508	30.66192	32.15896	33.76526	-
C-16	-	28.49832	30.67285	32.14803	33.76526	35.08746	-
C-17	-	29.12117	31.30663	32.77088	34.37719	35.71032	-

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	<u>P</u>	<u>A</u>	<u>B</u>	<u>C</u>	<u>D</u>	<u>E</u>	<u>F</u>
------------------	----------	----------	----------	----------	----------	----------	----------

C-14B 24.36781 26.19267 27.75527 29.28508 30.66192 32.15896 33.76526

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	A	B	C	D	E
C-2	<u>14.18063</u>	<u>15.74424</u>	<u>17.42810</u>	<u>19.07590</u>	<u>20.51922</u>
C-4	<u>16.81469</u>	<u>18.37830</u>	<u>19.99000</u>	<u>21.61374</u>	<u>23.27356</u>
C-6	<u>19.09995</u>	<u>21.00033</u>	<u>22.57596</u>	<u>24.25983</u>	<u>25.93167</u>
C-8	<u>21.95052</u>	<u>23.59830</u>	<u>25.36637</u>	<u>26.88187</u>	<u>28.51763</u>
C-10	<u>24.25983</u>	<u>26.28047</u>	<u>27.90422</u>	<u>29.58809</u>	<u>31.17574</u>
C-12	<u>26.82172</u>	<u>28.83035</u>	<u>30.55031</u>	<u>32.23418</u>	<u>33.74967</u>
C-14A	<u>30.05717</u>	<u>32.23418</u>	<u>33.74967</u>	<u>35.39747</u>	<u>37.16553</u>
C-16	<u>31.36819</u>	<u>33.76170</u>	<u>35.38544</u>	<u>37.16553</u>	<u>38.62088</u>
C-17	<u>32.05376</u>	<u>34.45930</u>	<u>36.07101</u>	<u>37.83908</u>	<u>39.30646</u>

<u>PAY RANGE</u>	P	A	B	C	D	E	F
C-14B	<u>26.82172</u>	<u>28.83035</u>	<u>30.55031</u>	<u>32.23418</u>	<u>33.74967</u>	<u>35.39747</u>	<u>37.16553</u>

All bargaining unit employees employed at or before the date of ratification, shall receive a one-time signing bonus of \$750 paid out within 30 days of ratification. Employees may elect to put the entire signing bonus in their HSA.

ARTICLE 13 CLASSIFICATIONS AND PAY PLAN ADMINISTRATION

13.01 The following is a list of the classifications subject to this Agreement by title and the pay range assigned to the classification.

CLASSIFICATION TITLE	PAY RANGE	CLASSIFICATION SERIES
Utility Billing Specialist	C-12	A
Tax Account Specialist	C-12	A
Fleet Technician Foreman	C-16	B
Senior Utility Billing Specialist	C-14A	A
Fleet Technician	C-14B	B
Code Enforcement Officer	C-12	C
Deputy Clerk of Court	C-12	D
Electrical Inspector	C-16	E

CLASSIFICATION TITLE	PAY RANGE	CLASSIFICATION SERIES
Facilities Maintenance Coordinator	C-14A	G
Facilities Maintenance Foreman	C-16	G
Parks & Recreation Facilities Foreman	C-16	H
Parks & Recreation Parks Foreman	C-16	H
<u>Parks Maintenance Worker I</u>	<u>C-10</u>	<u>H</u>
<u>Parks Maintenance Worker II</u>	<u>C14-A</u>	<u>H</u>
Forestry Foreman	C-16	H
Secretary	C-10	I
<u>Service Maintenance Worker I</u>	<u>C-10</u>	<u>J</u>
Streets Foreman	C-16	J
Utility Foreman	C-17	J
Equipment Operator	C-14B	J
Horticulturist	14A	K
<u>Animal Warden</u>	No Pay Range Assigned	

13.02. Titles Used and Pay Ranges Applied to Classes. The meanings of the classification titles used in this Agreement shall be defined by classification specifications contained in the Classification Plan as prepared by the Human Resources Department and approved by the Gahanna City Civil Service Commission. A copy of the classification plan shall be maintained in the offices of the Human Resources Department. It is understood and agreed that the Human Resources Department has jurisdiction over classification specifications and plans to the extent provided by City Charter or City Ordinance. It is further understood that the City shall retain all its rights, duties and obligations regarding the classification plan, subject to the provisions of this Agreement for grievance and arbitration.

Each classification title considered subject to this Agreement is included in the listing of classifications in section 13.01 and has a pay range assigned as indicated in section 13.01. The pay range shall be used for payroll purposes and other personnel transactions.

13.03 Pay Plan Administration. The following shall apply to advancement from Step A to Step D in the pay ranges within a classification:

- A. The entry or probationary step shall be the rate of pay for all newly hired employees in the respective classifications. This rate shall be in effect for the period of the probationary period. Entry may be made, for purposes of recruitment at the discretion of the City, at either Step A, Step B, or Step C.
- B. The A step shall be the minimum rate and shall be the starting rate for the classification after completion of the probationary period. The City may, when necessary for reasons of recruitment, assign Step A, Step B, or Step C pay to a new

employee.

- C. Subject to the provisions of paragraph F of this section, an employee, upon the recommendation to and approval of the appointing authority, shall be advanced to the B step on the first day of the first full pay period immediately following satisfactory completion of one year in Step A.
- D. Subject to the provisions of paragraph F of this section, an employee upon the recommendation to and approval of the appointing authority, shall be advanced to Step C on the first day of the first full pay period immediately following the satisfactory completion of one year in Step B.
- E. Subject to the provisions of paragraph F of this section, an employee upon the recommendation to and approval of the appointing authority, shall be advanced to Step D on the first day of the first full pay period immediately following the satisfactory completion of one year in Step C.
- F. Notwithstanding the provisions pertaining to pay increases contained in paragraphs A, B, C and D of this section, the department head or appointing authority may withhold any step increase which would otherwise occur according to the provisions of this section. If the employee's step increase is to be withheld, the employee shall be notified in writing of the reasons for the withholding of the step increase. Such notification shall be given to the employee not later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the effective date of a scheduled increase. If an employee's increase is withheld a second time ~~he~~ **the employee** shall be subject to discharge.

When the employee is notified of the denial of step increase, the employee shall be notified of the reasons for the denial. The employee shall have the reasons for the denial of the step increase reviewed at six (6) month increments following the original denial. Employees may appeal the withholding of the step increase through the grievance procedure of this Agreement.

13.04 Pay Period. All employees shall be paid on a bi-weekly pay period which begins on ~~Saturday~~ **Monday** at 12:01 a.m. and ends on ~~Friday~~ **Sunday** at 12:00 midnight. The bi-weekly pay period may be changed by action of City Council or if required by applicable law or regulations. The pay period is defined for payroll administration purposes and it does not define an employee's scheduled workweek.

13.05 Original and Promotional Probationary Period. Employees originally hired or rehired into positions in the Bargaining Unit shall serve a probationary period of ~~one hundred eighty (180)~~ **three hundred and sixty five (365)** days from date of hire. An employee who is promoted within the classification title shall be required to serve a promotional probationary period of one hundred eighty (180) days following the promotion. If an employee does not satisfactorily complete the promotion probationary period, the employee shall be returned to the classification and rate of pay that he held immediately prior to the promotion.

13.06 Annual Service Credit Payment. Employees shall receive, in addition to other pay provided for herein, an annual service credit payment based on the years of continuous service with the City of Gahanna according to the following table:

<u>YEARS</u>	<u>DOLLAR AMOUNTS</u>
More than 5 but less than 10 years	\$925.00
10 or more years but less than 15 years	\$1,125.00
15 or more years but less than 20 years	\$1,375.00
20 or more years	\$1,575.00

13.07 Payment of Service Credit. Payment of the service credit payment shall be made in a lump sum, ~~separate check,~~ and will accompany the pay period ~~following~~ **that includes** the employee's anniversary date. Payment shall be based upon continuous years of active service as an employee of the City of Gahanna. ~~An employee who retires from active service with the City prior to an anniversary date shall receive service credit payment on a pro rata basis of 1/12 for each month served from the last anniversary date.~~ For purposes of this section, continuous active service shall include approved military leave. Continuous service shall also include periods of less than six (6) months when the employee is on a previously approved leave of absence. Continuous service shall be as defined in this Agreement.

At the member's option, during open enrollment, payment of all service credit shall be deposited into the members Health Savings Account (HSA) in the month that includes their anniversary date.

ARTICLE 14 **RATES FOR EMPLOYEES FOLLOWING CERTAIN PERSONNEL ACTIONS**

14.01 General. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article XIII herein, the rates of pay for employees affected by personnel actions of the City according to the following sections shall be as specified in those sections.

14.02 Demotion.

A. Disciplinary or Other Non-Voluntary Demotion. Whenever an employee is demoted for disciplinary reasons or when a demotion is made without the employee's consent, he shall be paid at the same step level of the lower job classification.

B. Voluntary or Physical Disability Demotion. Whenever an employee covered by this Agreement requests and is granted a voluntary demotion, or is required to accept a demotion due to disability, ~~his~~ **the employee's** rate of pay shall be at the rate in the lower pay range which is equal to or requires the least reduction in the employee's pre-demotion salary. Such employee shall be eligible for ~~his~~ **the employee's** next step increase, if any, at the same time he would normally have accrued the right to a step increase if the employee is eligible to a rate increase in the new classification.

14.03 Promotion. An employee shall be advanced upon promotion to the lowest step in the higher pay range which also produces an increase in ~~his~~ **the employee's** rate of pay.

14.04 Reallocation. Whenever the Human Resources Department reallocates a position to a higher classification, the determination of the rate of pay for the employee shall be to the step which results in the employee's rate remaining unchanged or provides the smallest increase in pay. Whenever the Human Resources Department reallocates a position to a lower classification, the rate of pay for the employee shall be the same as prescribed in paragraph 14.02(A) above. Employees in the classified service shall have the right to appeal reallocations according to the provisions of the grievance procedure.

14.05 Reassignment. Whenever any employee is reassigned from one position in a classification to another position in a different classification having the same pay range assignment or the same maximum rate of pay, the employee's rate of pay shall remain unchanged.

14.06 Re-employment. Whenever any employee is re-employed following layoff for any reason, or is reinstated following an approved leave of absence, ~~his~~ **the employee's** rate of pay shall be at the same step or at the rate in a lower pay range within the classification series which is equal to or requires the least reduction in salary.

ARTICLE 15 LAYOFF OF EMPLOYEES

15.01 Reasons for Layoff. The City may lay off employees for the reasons of lack of work, lack of funds, abolishment of positions, changes in work routines, or reorganization of departments and divisions. The abolishment of positions shall trigger the layoff of employees according to the provisions set forth herein.

15.02 Order of Layoff. Whenever employees are laid off due to lack of work, lack of funds, abolishment of positions or other reasons specified in this Article, the City shall first lay off any provisional employees in the affected classifications, then part-time certified employees, and then shall lay off workers with permanent certified status. All layoffs shall occur in the inverse order of the seniority of the employees with the employees having the least seniority being laid off first.

15.03 Displacement or Bumping Rights of Employees. An Employee who is to be laid off shall first have the right to displace an employee with less continuous service in the classification of the laid-off employee. If the employee has no opportunity to displace another employee in ~~his~~ **the employee's** classification, then the employee shall have the right to displace an employee in any equal or lower (in pay grade) classification in the laid-off employee's classification series, as set forth in Article 13.01, who has less continuous service with the City. If the employee has no right to displace another employee within ~~his~~ **the employee's** classification series as set forth in Article 13.01, the employee may displace an employee in a lower classification in another classification series provided the displacing employee has greater City seniority than the employee being displaced in the lower classification in the other classification series. Displacement shall occur concurrently with or no later than two weeks after the date the employee was to be laid off from

the classification held at the time of layoff. In all cases, an employee may displace a less senior employee only if the displacing employee is qualified to perform the work in the classification of the employee being displaced, meaning able to perform with minimal on-the-job training of normally one week or less. In no case will an employee who holds a Water Distribution Class 2 Operator Certificate be displaced by an employee who does not hold this certificate.

15.04 Layoff Lists. Immediately following the layoff of employees, the City shall create lists containing the names of laid off employees in the order of their seniority. These lists shall be utilized for the purposes of recalling employees to vacant positions. Employees shall have the right to remain on a layoff list for a period equal to the length of their employment with the City up to two (2) years.

15.05 Recall From Layoff Lists. Employees shall be recalled, when vacant positions exist, in the order that the employees are listed on the recall lists provided that the employee being recalled is qualified to perform the work of the position to which he is being recalled. Certified employees on recall lists shall be rehired to positions in classifications prior to the employment of any other employees provided the recall lists still exist. Employees on the recall list shall be given a ten (10) work-day period from the date of their receipt of the offer of reemployment within which to accept the reemployment and return to work. Employees who fail to return to work or respond to the notice of reemployment shall be removed from the recall lists and lose any and all rights of reinstatement or reemployment. Any employee on layoff status whose name appears on a recall list who is disabled or otherwise unable to perform the duties in the classification from which he was laid off shall be maintained on the recall list for the period established in this section and if an offer of recall is made and not accepted, the City may recall the next name on the list.

15.06 Appeals. All appeals from layoff are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. Such appeals shall enter the grievance procedure at the step prior to arbitration. Such appeals shall be filed within ten (10) working days of notice of layoff being given.

ARTICLE 16 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

16.01 Hours of Work and Work Week. The work week shall normally consist of forty (40) hours based on a five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour work day and two (2) consecutive days off. The salary and wage ranges prescribed in the pay plan for the respective classifications are based on an average work week of forty (40) hours in a work year of 2,080 hours. The City and the Union agree that the City may implement a four (4) day, ten (10) hour per day, work week.

~~16.02 Temporary Schedule Changes. The City may change the schedules of Parks and Recreation Department employees on a temporary basis to include up to six days per calendar year. Notice of a temporary schedule change will be given no less than one (1) month before the affected work weeks. This limit on temporary schedule changes does not establish any guarantee of a specific regular work week schedule and does not change the City's right to establish or change an employee's regularly scheduled work week.~~

16.03 Seniority Bidding. If the City implements multiple shifts or multiple schedules, employees will be allowed to bid on the available shifts or schedules by seniority. The bidding will occur as follows:

When a new shift or schedule is established for a job or jobs, employees in those jobs will be given the opportunity to bid on available shifts or schedules by seniority, with the person with the greatest total City seniority having first selection, and so on, until all available shifts or schedules are filled.

If multiple shifts or schedules are established and bid on under this Article, shift and schedule assignments will be posted **at least 60 days prior to the assignments.** ~~for re-bidding in November and May of each year for assignments to begin on January 1 and July 1, respectively.~~

The City reserves the right to change an employee's shift assignment for operational needs or to insure the safety of an employee or the public. In addition, the City has the right to make a temporary change in an employee's shift assignment for emergency reasons.

16.04 Report-In Pay. When an employee reports for work on a regular work day, at ~~his~~ **the employee's** usual starting time, and has not been provided notice not to report to work for that day, and the employee is sent home prior to the end of ~~his~~ **the employee's** regular work shift, the employee shall be paid for a minimum of ~~four (4)~~ **three (3)** hours for report-in pay or for the hours actually worked, whichever is greater.

16.05 Overtime and Compensatory Time. Employees shall be compensated at their straight rates for all hours in paid status, except that all hours worked in paid status in excess of eight (8) hours in any work day or ten (10) hours in a four (4) day work week as prescribed, or forty (40) hours in a work week shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times the employees' regular hourly rate of pay. "Paid status" shall include work hours as well as all hours in pay status while on any approved leave, including holiday, vacation, injury, ~~military,~~ and sick leave.

Employees shall be paid at the time and one-half rate for all time worked over forty (40) hours in a work week. Employees shall be paid at a rate of double time (2x) for all hours worked over 48 hours in a work week. ~~No employee shall be paid for overtime worked which has not been authorized by his supervisor.~~ Overtime shall be paid in increments of ~~one-tenth (1/10)~~ **one quarter (1/4)** of an hour. ~~For example, an employee who works six (6) minutes or less of overtime shall receive six (6) minutes of overtime pay; an employee who works more than six (6) minutes of overtime up to and including twelve (12) minutes of overtime shall receive twelve (12) minutes of overtime pay, etc.~~ **Therefore, all start and end times must be rounded back to the nearest quarter hour for 1 – 7 minutes past the quarter hour and must be rounded forward to the nearest quarter hour for 8 – 14 minutes past the quarter hour.** The employee has the right to request compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay.

There shall be no pyramiding of overtime. Eg: An employee is scheduled eight (8) hours per day, Monday through Friday. They work twelve (12) hours on a Monday and received four (4) hours at 1 ½ times. On Friday, the last four (4) hours of their shift would be hours over forty (40)

in the workweek. Since the employee had already received four (4) hours of overtime at the beginning of the week they would not be entitled to receive overtime again for hours worked over forty (40) in the same workweek. Simply put, you cannot receive overtime pay earlier in the workweek and expect to be paid overtime again after exceeding forty (40) hours in that week. No employee will be paid less, during any continuous shift, than the employee was being paid at the beginning of that shift, just because the hours worked continue from one work day over to another or from one workweek to another. An employee will be paid their straight time rate at the normal start time of their scheduled work day regardless of when the employee began working.

No employee will be required to work more than twelve (12) continuous hours except on a voluntary basis. If an employee(s) has been offered and turns down work after twelve (12) continuous hours, normal call in procedures will be followed, and in the absence of a volunteer, the most junior employee(s) qualified to do the work will be required to work. If the employee(s) who has turned down the offer to work beyond twelve (12) continuous hours is the most junior qualified employee(s), and an employee(s) must be required to work, it will be the next most junior qualified employee(s).

Employees may elect, at the time overtime is worked, to be compensated for overtime by compensatory time off. When elected, compensatory time shall be earned at the same rate as that specified for overtime payment. Compensatory time may accumulate to a maximum of 160 hours. All compensatory time credited to an employee shall, at the time of any separation, be paid to the employee. Compensatory leave requests will be granted except where denied for operational needs.

An employee may make an annual one-time request for compensation in lieu of paid time off for up to a total of sixty (60) hours annually of unused compensatory leave by making a request ~~in writing to the City Finance Director~~ **through the designated City system** at one of the following two times: no later than May 1 with payment to be made by the first full pay period following June 1; or no later than October 1 with payment to be made by the first full pay period following November 1.

16.06 Overtime Assignment & Obligation.

A. Overtime Obligation

1. **All employees share the obligation to assure that the public receives and acceptable level or service.**
2. **All employees are required to provide the Employer or their designee with a working telephone number at which the employee can be reached when away from work.**

B. Overtime Call-in Procedure

Overtime will be offered to qualified employees on a division basis before any offer is

made outside the division/department in seniority order or established list. Overtime will be offered to permanent employees before being offered to temporary or part-time employees.

C. Qualification

Management will provide training to all employees interested in becoming qualified for overtime assignments. After the employee has demonstrated proficiency in doing the work the employee shall be eligible for overtime.

D. Scheduled Overtime

Scheduled overtime shall be filled using the division seniority list and shall rotate as filled. Employees shall be paid a minimum of one (1) hour for any scheduled overtime. Employees are not obligated to take scheduled overtime. Scheduled overtime is planned overtime that is known at least 72 hours in advance.

E. Emergency Overtime

Emergency overtime shall be filled utilizing a rotating list. For emergency overtime, employees will be contacted via their preferred selection in the city's system. If there is no response or answer, the employer is not required to wait to move to the next employee on the list.

F. Nonemergency, Unscheduled Overtime

When **nonemergency, unscheduled** overtime is available in a department, it will be offered in order of City seniority, and any established department rotation schedule, to all full-time employees in the department who are qualified to perform the available work. No part-time employee will be offered the overtime until all full-time employees in the department who are qualified to perform the work have been offered and declined the opportunity and a reasonable effort has been made to offer the overtime to full-time qualified employees in other departments. If no full-time employee accepts the overtime, then the most junior qualified employee in the department will be required to work the overtime.

The City will **contact employees via their preferred selection**, ~~be required only to attempt to contact employees by pager or cell phone or, if the employee has not been issued a pager or cell phone, by calling the employee's home telephone number.~~ If an employee is not reached in person, the next **employee** ~~person~~ will be called.

G. Temporary Employees

A temporary employee will not be assigned on an overtime opportunity basis whenever regular full-time employees are available from the divisional overtime list.

16.07 Call-In Pay. When an employee is called back for work by the appointing authority or designee for hours not abutting the employee's regular shift hours, the employee shall be paid or credited with a minimum of three (3) hours of pay at time and one-half or double time as provided in Article 16.

An employee scheduled to conduct routine water chlorine testing will receive a minimum of one (1) hour of call-in pay at time and one-half or double time as provided in Article 16.

16.08 Sixth and Seventh Consecutive Day Pay. ~~Employees shall be paid time and one-half for the time worked on the sixth consecutive day worked, and double time on the seventh consecutive day worked.~~

When an employee works on the seventh consecutive day, and the employee has actually working at least thirty-two (32) hours in the five (5) previous days plus a minimum of two (2) hours one (1) hour on the sixth consecutive day, the member shall be compensated at double-time rate of pay for all hours worked on the seventh consecutive day. To be eligible, an employee is required to have actually worked a portion of every day during the work week.

Sixth and seventh consecutive day pay is evaluated based on the work week.

16.09 Stand-by Pay. When an employee is required to remain in a limited geographical area at a time on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday listed in this Agreement which is other than the employee's regularly scheduled work time, the employee shall be considered to be on stand-by. An employee shall receive five (5) hours of pay at the employee's regular, straight-time rate for each Saturday, Sunday, or listed holiday on which the employee is on stand-by status. Employees, other than Fleet Technician and Fleet Technician Foreman, may not elect compensatory time off in lieu of receiving Stand-by pay. Stand-by pay shall not be considered as time worked for any purpose under this Agreement. Employees on stand-by status are required to be on stand-by from 4:00pm on Friday until 7:00am on Monday for weekend days, and from 4:00 pm the day prior until 7:00am the day after for holidays.

ARTICLE 17 UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT

17.01 Uniforms. Employees required by the Department Head to wear prescribed uniforms in the performance of their duties as City employees, shall be issued a uniform allowance of six hundred dollars (\$600.00) each year to cover the cost of safety shoes and pants that conform to the uniform rules.. Uniforms must be worn in accordance with the rules established by the Uniform Committee. Uniform parts furnished by the City shall consist of winter/summer shirts, Carhartt coveralls or bib overalls, pile-type jackets, cap or toboggan, lightweight windbreaker, and gloves, as appropriate for the job. The City will provide equipment to launder uniforms. Equipment is to be worn only when working for the City. Used equipment must be returned before new equipment is provided. The Uniform Committee shall, by a majority, deem the nature of uniforms to be worn by City personnel.

17.02 Uniform Committee. The Uniform Committee shall consist of the following employees: Director of Public Service, Division Heads, and two (2) personnel selected by the Bargaining Unit.

17.03 Return of Uniforms. Upon termination, employees shall return all uniforms and equipment furnished by the City, to the City.

17.03 Reimbursement for Damage to Personal Property. For personal property, such as eyeglasses or watches, which are damaged in a work-related activity, employees will be reimbursed up to a maximum of two hundred dollars (\$200) in any calendar year, except where the damage is due to the employee's negligence. To be entitled to reimbursement under this Section, the employee must submit an A/I report and present the damaged property to the department manager. Reimbursement will be offset by any amount recoverable by the employee under the City's group vision insurance. Reimbursement will be limited to personal items which an employee must carry or use for performing the job. No reimbursement shall be made for items available from or provided by the City.

17.04 Prescription Safety Glasses. Once during the life of the contract, and no more often than once in any twelve month period, an employee who is required to wear safety glasses in performing ~~his or her~~ **the employee's** job can request reimbursement toward the cost of prescription safety glasses with side-shields, up to a maximum contribution by the City of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00)

ARTICLE 18 VACATION AND PERSONAL LEAVE

18.01 Vacation and Personal Leave Year. The vacation and personal leave year for employees shall end at midnight on December 31st of each year.

18.02 Conditions for Vacation Accrual. Each full-time employee shall accrue vacation leave by pay period at the annual rate of workdays based on years of continuous City service as established in the schedules contained in this Article. In computing years of continuous service, as defined in this Agreement, the higher rate of accrual will begin on the first day of the first pay period following the bi-weekly pay period in which a continuous year of service is completed. For accrual purposes, the City shall also consider and include an employee's service from another city or like entity. Proof of full time service with the other city or like entity must be submitted to the Department of Human Resources within one year of the member's date of hire with the City of Gahanna. The proof of service should include, at minimum, the member's name, dates of service, position title, and verification of full time status written on the letterhead of the city or like entity and signed by the appropriate personnel of that organization.

18.03 Accrual Schedule for Vacation. The following vacation-accrual schedules are established:

<u>YEARS OF SERVICE</u>	<u>PAID VACATION HOURS PER YEAR</u>	<u>PAID VACATION DAYS PER YEAR</u>
Date of Hire but less than 4 years	104 hours	13 days
4 years but less than 8 years	136 hours	17 days
8 years but less than 12 years	152 hours	19 days
12 years but less than 16 years	176 hours	22 days
16 years but less than 20 years	192 hours	24 days
20 years or more but less than 26 years	200 hours	25 days
26 years or more	216 hours	27 days

18.04 Vacation Carry-Over. An employee may carry over each year a maximum of 240 hours. Any accrual over 240 hours on December 31 of each year will be forfeited.

18.05 Personal Leave. Employees will have a personal leave account which will be loaded with twenty hours ~~at the start of each year~~ **the first full pay of each year.** Employees may request to use personal leave in accordance with leave request procedures.

The personal leave amount will be pro-rated for an employee who starts after the first of the year. Personal leave may not be carried over into the next year and will be forfeited if not used by the end of that calendar year.

18.06 Additional Considerations. An employee may make an annual one-time request for compensation in lieu of paid time off for up to 40 hours of accrued vacation by making a request ~~in writing to the Director of Human Resources~~ **through the designated City system** at one of the following times: no later than May 1st with payment to be made by the first full pay period following June 1st or no later than October 1st with payment to be made by the first full pay period following November 1st

An employee in full-time status who is to be separated from the City service through resignation, retirement or layoff and who has unused vacation and personal leave to ~~his~~ **the employee's** credit, shall be paid in a lump sum for unused vacation and personal leave in lieu of granting such employee a vacation or personal leave after ~~his~~ **the employee's** last day of active service with the City.

18.07 Payment at Death. When an employee dies while in paid status in the City service, any unused vacation and personal leave to ~~his~~ **the employee's** credit shall be paid in a lump sum in accordance with Ohio Revised Code, Section 2113.04.

18.08 Use of Vacation and Personal Leave. All vacation and personal leaves shall be taken at such time or times at the discretion of and as approved by the appointing authority. Vacation and personal leaves may be taken in multiples of ~~one half (1/2)~~ **one quarter (1/4)** hour. More than one Bargaining Unit employee may be on vacation or personal leave at one time.

ARTICLE 19 HOLIDAYS

19.01 Holidays. The following are designated as paid holidays for all employees. Employees shall receive eight (8) hours holiday pay for each of the holidays listed.

1. New Years Day
2. Martin Luther King Day (3rd Monday in Jan.)
3. Memorial Day
4. **Juneteenth**
5. Independence Day (July 4)
6. Labor Day (1st Monday in Sept.)
7. Veterans Day (November 11)
8. Thanksgiving Day (4th Thursday in Nov.)
9. Day after Thanksgiving Day
10. Christmas Eve (December 24)
11. Christmas Day (December 25)
12. Any additional holiday for City employees declared by the Mayor

19.02 Work on Holiday. Employees who are required to work on a holiday shall receive compensation for all time actually worked on the holiday. Employees shall be paid, in addition to their holiday pay, at a rate of time and one-half (1½x) their normal hourly rate or at the applicable rate in accordance with Article 16. There shall be no pyramiding of holiday leave and/or pay.

19.03 Holiday Time Off. When a holiday falls on the first day of an employee's regularly scheduled days off, it shall be celebrated on the previous day; and when a holiday falls on the second day of an employee's regularly scheduled days off, it shall be celebrated on the following day. If the four (4) ten-hour day work week necessitates more than a two-day weekend, a holiday which falls on either of the first two days shall be celebrated on the last previous work day; and a holiday which falls on any other day of such days off shall be celebrated on the next subsequent work day. Part-time employees shall not be compensated for holidays; however, they shall be paid for work performed on a holiday at the rate set forth in this Article.

For each holiday observed on an employee's work day, said employee will be excused from work on such day, if feasible. If one of the listed holidays occurs while an employee is on vacation leave, such day shall not be charged against vacation leave.

19.04 Holiday Pay and Sick Leave. Whenever an employee is not in paid status for any part of the work day prior to a holiday and any part of the work day immediately following the holiday, ~~he~~ **the employee** shall not be paid for the holiday unless ~~he~~ **the employee** worked the holiday. The use of sick leave on the day before or the day after a holiday may require a doctor's certificate regardless of the number of days marked off.

ARTICLE 20 INSURANCE

20.01 Life Insurance. The City agrees to provide term life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment coverage for members. In the event of a covered death, the benefit is the greater of two times the employee's annual salary or \$50,000. Other covered losses under the accidental death and dismemberment policy will be paid in accordance with the plan document.

20.02 Medical Insurance. The City will continue to provide comprehensive hospitalization, surgical, major medical and additional physicians' services coverage for the duration of this Agreement. **Details regarding the plans may be obtained through the Human Resources Department and on the City's intranet, in addition to the Summary Plan Description.**

The City will pay the monthly premium for employee only, employee + child(ren), employee + spouse and family coverage except for the member contributions set forth below:

The employee portion of the monthly medical insurance premium shall be determined as follows:

Employee Only, or Employee + Child(ren) Coverage

15%: Employee does not participate in the wellness program

~~**10%:** Employee participates in the wellness program and tests positive for nicotine~~

~~**6%:** Employee participates in the wellness program and does not test positive for nicotine~~

Employee + Spouse or Family Coverage

15%: **Employee or the covered spouse, or both, do not participate in the wellness program.** ~~Neither employee nor the covered spouse participate in the wellness program; or Employee participates in the wellness program and tests positive for nicotine and the covered spouse does not participate in the wellness program.~~

~~**10%:** Employee and covered spouse participate in the wellness program and one or both test positive for nicotine or Employee participates in the wellness program and does not test positive for nicotine, and the covered spouse does not participate in the wellness program.~~

~~**6%:** Employee and covered spouse participate in the wellness program and neither test positive for nicotine.~~

Employees and their spouses shall have the option of participating in the City's wellness program. Participation shall be defined as completion by the employee and the covered spouse, if applicable, of the following in the timeframe specified by Human Resources:

- Completion of annual Health Risk Assessment;
- Completion of the annual Biometrics Screening;
 - ~~Biometrics screening will be offered onsite or through an authorized testing facility such as Labcorp;~~
 - ~~Includes a screening of employee and covered spouse, if applicable, for the presence of nicotine. Test results of 2.0ng/ml or higher for nicotine or a level of cotinine at 20.0ng/ml shall constitute a positive result.~~
- Signing the annual participation agreement;
- Employee's attendance at either the annual City Health Fair or two wellness credits as approved by the Human Resources Department;
- Employee's participation in health coaching if the employee falls in the moderate or high risk health categories as defined by the City's qualified wellness provider.

~~If a participant is unable to meet the negative nicotine/cotinine level requirement under this wellness program, the participant could qualify for an opportunity to earn the same premium reduction by different means. Information will be provided by Human Resources annually.~~

New Hires: A member newly hired before July 1st of any calendar year is eligible to participate in the wellness program on the same basis as any other member. A member newly hired on July 1st or after of any calendar year shall pay 15% premium contribution, unless the member agrees to participate in the wellness program, in which case the newly hired member shall pay 6% until the following calendar year.

During the time period the City offers a High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP), the City will provide an annual contribution to each employee's Health Savings Account (HSA). For 2023, and 2024, the City shall provide the following contributions to each member's HSA, \$2000 for employee only and \$4000 for employee + spouse, employee + child(ren) and family. Thereafter, the annual contribution will be the greater of the amount provided to other City employees or one-half of the member's annual deductible.

20.03 Wellness Incentive. Each member covered by the group medical insurance program described in 20.02 will be entitled to a maximum of \$400.00 each year as reimbursement or payment for certain wellness-related expenses for the member and covered spouse as set forth in the City's Wellness Tools Incentive Program. Wellness-related expenses and incentives covered by the program are detailed in the wellness participation agreement; a copy will be provided to all members.

All services, programs, or items for which a member seeks reimbursement or payment under the Wellness Tools Incentive Program must have been obtained and completed on or before the member's last day of paid, active employment with the City. Reimbursement or payment under this program must be completed or obtained by December 31 and request for reimbursement or

payment must be submitted by the first Friday in January of the following year. Members will not be reimbursed for any portion of a payment for services, programs, or items not obtained or completed by December 31 and not submitted to the City for reimbursement on or before the first Friday in the following January. All reimbursements and payments under this program are subject to applicable federal, state and local taxes.

20.04 Prescription Drug Coverage. ~~For prescription drugs, there will be a \$1000 combined cap, per family. In order for any non-generic purchase to be covered by the cap, the member must provide verification from the pharmacist that there is no generic equivalent drug available. All other~~ details regarding prescription drug coverage will be provided as specified in the Summary Plan Description.

20.05 Dental and Vision Insurance. The City will provide vision and dental insurance coverage for employees of the Bargaining Unit, which plans will have at least equivalent benefits provided at the time this Agreement is executed. The City will pay the entire premiums for the vision and dental coverage.

20.06 Cost Containment. If premium rates increase during the life of this Agreement, the parties agree to meet and discuss the increase in premium cost for the purpose of discussing alternatives to maintain cost control, including, but not limited to, alternate insurance coverage, and alternate means of providing coverage. The Union recognizes the right of the City to secure alternate insurance carriers and to modify insurance coverage so as to continue to provide equivalent or better benefits, which measures may be used to maintain or lessen premium costs.

The City agrees to meet and discuss any proposed modifications in the insurance plan or change of carrier prior to the time any modifications or change of carrier would be implemented.

In the event that the cost for any group health plan provided under this collective bargaining agreement increases by 25% or more in any contract year, then the parties will meet to bargain over possible replacement coverage.

20.07 Insurance Waiver. Any employee who elects not to be covered by the medical plan offered by the City and can demonstrate they have coverage by another plan other than the plan the City offers may elect a cash payment of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) per year, paid through a yearly election. A married Employee who elects employee only coverage and who can demonstrate ~~his/her~~ **the employee's** eligible spouse has coverage by another plan other than the plan offered by the City may elect a cash payment of five hundred dollars (\$500) per year, paid through a yearly election.. Employees will receive this cash payment during the month of December and must be in Active Paid Status at the time the check is issued. This amount will be pro-rated for any new hires from the date they are eligible to begin coverage until the end of the calendar year.

20.08 New or Additional Health Insurance Options. **If during the term of this Agreement, the City makes available a new or additional health insurance option for which the members would be eligible, the Members shall have the option of enrolling in such Plan in lieu of any other health insurance provided by the City, on the same terms and conditions applicable to**

~~**the City employees enrolled in such Plan.** The City will offer the two plan options in 20.02 for the duration of this contract, however if during the term of this Agreement the City makes available a new or additional health insurance option for which the members would be eligible, the members shall have the option of enrolling in such Plan in lieu of any other health insurance provided by the City, on the same terms and conditions applicable to the City employees enrolled in such Plan.~~

20.09 Modifications. If changes under applicable law require changes in benefits and/or administration of the group coverage provided, both parties agree to meet and discuss steps needed to implement the required changes.

ARTICLE 21 SICK LEAVE

21.01 Sick Leave Use. Sick leave shall be defined as an absence with pay necessitated by: (1) illness or injury to the employee, medical, dental or optic examination or consultation by a licensed practitioner or pregnancy of the employee; (2) exposure of the employee to contagious disease communicable to other employees; or (3) serious illness, pregnancy or injury in the employee's immediate family where the employee's presence is reasonably necessary.

21.02 Sick Leave Accumulation. Bargaining Unit employees shall accumulate sick leave at the following rates:

<u>Years of Service</u>	<u>Sick Leave Hours Per Year</u>
Date of hire up to 6 years	120 Hours per year-15 days
6 years up to 11 years	128 Hours per year-16 days
11 years up to 16 years	136 Hours per year-17 days
16 years or more	144 Hours per year-18 days

Sick leave shall accumulate without limit. In computing years of service, the higher rate of accrual will begin on the first day of the first pay period following the bi-weekly pay period in which a year of service is completed.

21.03 Charge of Sick Leave. Sick leave may be used in segments of not less than one- fourth (1/4) hour.

21.04 Examination Requirement. The Department Head may require an employee who has been absent in excess of three (3) working days due to personal illness or injury, prior to and as a condition of ~~his~~ **the employee's** return to duty, to be examined by a physician designated and paid for by the City, to establish that ~~he~~ **the employee** is able to perform the essential functions of ~~his~~ **the employee's** position. An employee who disagrees with the determination can resort to the procedures described in Article 22, Section 22.04.

21.05 Proof of Illness. A doctor's certificate ~~may~~ **shall** be required for all absences of more than ~~three (3) five (5)~~ **three (3)** work days. If an employee fails to submit the required doctor's certificate or in

the event such proof as is submitted is not satisfactory evidence of illness or injury sufficient to justify the employee's absence, such leave may be considered an unauthorized leave and shall be without pay.

21.06 Abuse of Sick Leave. Any abuse or patterned use of sick leave shall be just and sufficient cause for disciplinary action.

21.07 Absence Without Leave. Any employee who fails to report for a period of three (3) work days is considered to have resigned. However, such resignation may be rescinded at the discretion of the Department Head and Mayor within thirty (30) calendar days of the date the employee was absent.

21.08 Sick Leave Conversion at Retirement or Resignation. Bargaining Unit employees, at the time of their retirement or resignation in good standing, shall receive payment based on the employee's rate of pay at retirement or resignation for 50% **if the employee retired or 33% if the employee resigned** of the accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of 1,200 sick leave hours but not less than that accumulated at the effective date of the 1990 Agreement. Above 1,200 hours, payment shall be at 25% of accumulated sick leave **for employees that retired and 0% if the employee resigned**. ~~All severance pay shall be paid at the employee's current rate of pay.~~ In the event an employee dies, payment under this section shall be made as provided in Ohio Revised Code, Section 2113.04.

All employees who, as of February 23, 1985, were entitled to convert sick leave at the rate of 60% of accumulated unused sick leave will be entitled to convert such sick leave at 60%. All sick leave accumulated after February 23, 1985 shall be converted at a rate of 50%. Prior to use of sick leave hours at the 60% conversion rate, all sick leave hours of 50% will be used.

All Bargaining unit employees hired on or after January 1, 2023, with ten or more years of service with the Employer, shall be eligible for payment based on the employee's rate of pay at retirement for 25% of the accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of 240 hours.

21.09 Special Major Medical Leave. For all Bargaining Unit employees with five (5) or more years of full-time, City of Gahanna service, 1,040 hours at full pay will be provided for special major medical leave over a period of six (6) months.

This special leave shall provide for payment to the employee from the thirtieth (30th) calendar day of the accident or illness of the employee. This leave is only to be used for incidents involving the employee and is not to be used for major medical incidents involving family members. 'Major medical' shall be defined as any debilitating non-work related condition that by its nature requires a lengthy confinement or convalescence and renders the employee unable to perform ~~his or her~~ **the employee's** regular job for the city or available light-duty as described herein . Major medical leave may be used only after all accumulated sick and vacation time has been exhausted. The City will require verification from a physician to substantiate the need for this leave. The City has the right to require verification of the need for the leave by a physician designed by the City.

If the opinion and conclusions of the City-appointed and employee-retained practitioners differ, the employee shall submit to an examination by a practitioner mutually appointed by the City and the Union. If the City and the Union cannot agree on a third-party practitioner within thirty (30) days, then the two practitioners shall mutually appoint a third-party practitioner. The opinion and conclusion of the third practitioner shall be binding.

Major medical leave is not available to an employee for any duty-related disabling injury. An employee on major medical leave shall not accrue sick leave or vacation time. Subsequent periods of absence for the same condition separated by less than thirty (30) calendar days will be treated as the same use of major medical leave.

Additional increments of thirty (30) days can be granted with approval of the Mayor and City Council.

No special major medical leave payments shall be made to any employee who is working for another employer. An employee on special major medical leave shall maintain biweekly contact with the department head or designee during the period of time they are disabled unless the Director of Human Resources or the Department Head approves a different frequency for contact. An employee shall notify the department head or designee at least seven (7) days before their expected return to work date to reconfirm that date.

To assist an employee to returning to work, special major medical leave can be used in conjunction with a reduced schedule to allow a transition to work or to continue in treatment as recommended by the employee's physician. Reduced schedules may continue for no more than 90 days. Once an employee returns from special major medical leave to full duty, subsequent time off from work for medical appointments or prescribed physical therapy caused by the accident or illness and which occur during the employee's scheduled hours will qualify for special major medical pay provided the employee has special major medical leave still available. The special major medical leave will be for no more time than the scheduled work time missed to commute to and from the appointment and to attend the appointment, but will not exceed four (4) hours for each appointment, unless specific circumstances justify approval of additional time. The employee will make a good faith effort to schedule appointments outside of ~~his or her~~ **the employee's** regular shift hours and, failing that, to schedule appointments in a way that causes the least possible disruption to department operations. An employee shall not be eligible to receive Major Medical leave pay if light duty or a reduced schedule consistent with the employee's work restrictions has been offered by the City of Gahanna and is declined by the employee.

ARTICLE 22 MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS

22.01 General. The City may require examinations of an employee to determine the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of the employee's position or prospective position. The City may include as part of any examination, tests and analyses of bodily fluids when there is reasonable cause to believe that an employee's use of alcohol or a drug of any type: could adversely

affect the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of ~~his~~ **the employee's** position; could create a risk of harm to the employee's fellow employees or could create a risk of harm to the public safety and welfare.

22.02 Refusal. Refusal of an employee to submit to an examination will be considered insubordination and may be grounds for discipline which may include dismissal. Discipline in connection with this section shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

22.03 Utilization of Sick Leave. If an employee after examination is found to be unable to perform the essential functions of ~~his~~ **the employee's** position, then the employee may utilize accumulated sick leave or other leave benefits (including but not limited to workers' compensation, if eligible).

22.04 Examination. Employees who have been determined by a City-required examination as unable to perform the essential functions of their position may obtain an opinion from a physician of the employee's choosing with the cost borne by the employee. If the two examinations differ in their conclusions as to the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of ~~his~~ **the employee's** position, then the employee shall submit to an examination by a practitioner mutually appointed by the City and the Union who shall be paid by the City to conduct an examination whose findings shall be considered final and binding. If the City and the Union cannot agree on a third-party practitioner within thirty (30) days, then the two practitioners shall mutually appoint a third-party practitioner. The City will provide the examining practitioners with any necessary documentation, incident reports or related materials.

22.05 Disability Separation. An employee will be subject to Disability Separation in either of the following circumstances: a physician has determined that the employee will never be able to return to work; the employee is unable to return to work six (6) months from the first date the leave commenced or at the point when the employee has exhausted all time off whichever is later. If at any point within one (1) year from the first date the leave commenced the employee submits medical information that substantiates the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of ~~his~~ **the employee's** position, the employee will be reinstated and, if the position has been filled, then applicable bumping and lay-off procedures will apply. Medical information submitted by the employee will be subject to review and a possible second and third opinion as set forth in Section 22.04.

ARTICLE 23 DUTY INJURY LEAVE

23.01 Duty-Injury. Bargaining Unit employees shall be allowed injury leave with pay for each service-connected injury (hereinafter "Duty Injury"), provided such injury is reported to the employee's immediate supervisor within six (6) hours. Notice provided after six (6) hours will be acceptable only where there are circumstances to justify the delay and in no case will injury leave be granted if the required notice is given more than twenty-four (24) hours after the injury. In the absence of the employee's immediate supervisor, the injury may be reported to any management person in the Department. Any request for Duty Injury leave is subject to approval by the Department Head and the Human Resources Department.

23.02 Report of Cause for Duty-Injury. A report of the cause of all injuries, signed by the employee, the immediate supervisor and the department head, shall be submitted to the Human Resources Department within two (2) work days of the date of the injury, on forms designed and furnished by the City. The Director of Human Resources may arrange to have the injured person examined by a qualified physician other than the employee's own personal physician, and if, in the judgment of the Director of Human Resources and the Department Head, the injury was sustained while on duty with the City and prevents the employee from working, the employee shall be continued on the payroll according to the provisions of this Article.

23.03 Length of Duty Injury Leave. Employees who have verified duty injuries shall be eligible for duty injury leave for up to nine (9) months. An employee on duty injury leave shall not accrue sick leave or vacation time.

23.04 Light Duty. If a physician designated by the City is of the opinion that the employee is capable of performing regular duties, the employee will be instructed to return to work, subject to the provisions of Section 23.06. If a physician recommends that an employee is able to perform restricted work duties for a period of time, the employee may be recalled to work if there is light duty work available which the employee is qualified to perform. If the employee is injured to the extent that he is unable to perform ~~his~~ **the employee's** regular duties after the maximum injury leave allowance, but is capable of performing other duties which are available to him in the municipal service and other work is available, the Department Head to whom ~~he~~ **the employee** will be assigned upon ~~his~~ **the employee's** return will submit a statement of ~~his~~ **the employee's** new duties to the Human Resources Department, and the Human Resources Department, after due investigation, will classify the job and recommend a range to Council, if an appropriate classification and pay range does not already exist covering the work to be performed. If the injured employee elects to return to work, he shall be employed in the new classification, and at the appropriate rate within the range for that class. If ~~he~~ **the employee** is able to resume ~~his~~ **the employee's** former duties at any point in time within one (1) year of the original injury, ~~he~~ **the employee** shall be restored to ~~his~~ **the employee's** previous job at the Step at which ~~he~~ **the employee** was paid when the injury occurred. This provision does not require the City to create work or otherwise provide work or create a job where none exists.

23.05 Temporary Total Benefits. Employees who are injured while on duty shall file for-workers' compensation benefits according to the workers' compensation law and regulations. Such filing may include requests for any available temporary total compensation program designed to compensate workers for lost wages. Copies of all filings shall be submitted to the City. As a condition to receiving disability leave, should the employee receive any temporary total compensation, they must submit the entire amount to the City to which the employee is entitled under workers' compensation for the period the employee is receiving benefits, in compensation, from the City. The requirement for reimbursement by the employee of temporary total compensation will cease at the time the City ceases duty injury leave payments. The City shall continue the employee's full salary during the injury leave. In the event the City elects to have the employee apply for Temporary Total Disability (TTD) benefits, the employee will be required to reimburse the City for all TTD benefits received for any period of injury leave.

Should the employee receive Duty Injury leave, and one of the following occurs: the employee is determined to be ineligible for temporary total benefits under Bureau of Worker's Compensation guidelines, the employee is determined by a physician to have reached Maximum Medical Improvement, or a physician determines the employee is able to return to work, the duty injury leave received under this Article will be terminated and any further wages will be allocated to sick leave should the employee continue to stay off work.

23.06 Third-Party Examination. If the employee disagrees with the determination of the City-appointed physician or other appropriate licensed practitioner, the employee may submit an examination report from a licensed practitioner of ~~his~~ **the employee's** choice. If the opinion and conclusions of the City-appointed and employee-retained practitioners differ, the employee shall submit to an examination by a practitioner mutually appointed by the City and the Union. If the City and the Union cannot agree on a third-party practitioner within thirty (30) days, then the two practitioners shall mutually appoint a third-party practitioner. The opinion and conclusion of the third practitioner shall be binding.

While waiting for the 3rd party neutral examination to occur, the employee will be placed on paid administrative leave. Once the 3rd party physician makes a determination, the employee's pay status for the time awaiting that determination will be adjusted accordingly.

23.07 Disability Separation. An employee will be subject to Disability Separation in either of the following circumstances: a physician has determined that the employee will never be able to return to work; the employee is unable to return to work six (6) months from the first date the leave commenced or at the point when the employee has exhausted all time off whichever is later. If at any point within one (1) year from the first date the leave commenced the employee submits medical information that substantiates the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of ~~his~~ **the employee's** position, the employee will be reinstated and, if the position has been filled, then applicable bumping and lay-off procedures will apply. Medical information submitted by the employee will be subject to review and a possible second and third opinion as set forth in Section 23.06.

ARTICLE 24 **SPECIAL LEAVES**

24.01 Jury Duty Leave. An employee, while serving upon a jury in any court of record, will be paid ~~his~~ **the employee's** regular salary for each of ~~his~~ **the employee's** work days during the periods of time so served. Time so served shall be deemed active and continuous service for all purposes.

24.02 Court Leave. Time off with pay shall be allowed employees who are required to attend any court of record as a witness for the City.

24.03 Examination Leave. Time off with pay shall be allowed employees to participate in Gahanna Civil Service tests or to take an examination, pertinent to their City employment, before a State or Federal licensing board.

24.04 Military Leave. An employee shall be granted military leaves of absence or separation with reinstatement rights in accordance with State reserve training and, if under active orders to attend training exercises or programs on an annual basis, shall be permitted annual military leave on that basis. The employee shall suffer no loss of benefits or wages as a result of ~~his~~ **the employee's** participation. The City shall pay the employee during ~~his~~ **the employee's** absence the amount normally earned less the amount paid by the military during the period. Certification of the employee's military pay shall be required of the employee in order for the employee to be eligible for this difference in pay.

Whenever an employee returns from military leave, ~~he~~ **the employee** shall be restored to a position in ~~his~~ **the employee's** former classification at the step which corresponds to the step ~~he~~ **the employee** received at the time of ~~his~~ **the employee's** departure and, in addition, shall be granted any increases to which ~~he~~ **the employee** would have been entitled had ~~he~~ **the employee** not entered military service.

24.05 Emergency Leave of Absence. An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay upon request to ~~his~~ **the employee's** supervisor, subject to the approval of the **Human Resources** Department Head, for short-term absences necessitated by unusual circumstances or emergencies. Leaves of absence without pay may not exceed seven (7) days. An employee who intends to be absent or to request leave without pay shall report the reason therefore to ~~his~~ **the employee's** supervisor prior to the date of absence when possible and in no case later than midshift on the first day of absence.

24.06 Absence Without Leave. All unreported absences shall be considered as absence without leave and loss in pay shall be automatic for the period of absence. Such unreported leave may also be made the grounds for corrective action, including dismissal or suspension.

24.07 Funeral Leave. Employees shall be entitled to three (3) consecutive work days, including the day of the funeral, and may, with written approval of the Department Head, be granted two (2) additional work days with pay at ~~his~~ **the employee's** regular straight hourly rate for a death in the immediate family.

24.08 Family Medical Leave. The City will allow employees all leaves and other rights as required by the federal Family and Medical Leave Act. Any paid or unpaid leaves provided by this Agreement which are used for purposes that could have been taken under the FMLA will be credited against the employee's time available under the FMLA. Employees on FMLA leave are required to exhaust available paid leave **concurrently**. This Article establishes notice that any paid or unpaid time taken under this Agreement will be credited against time available under the FMLA.

It is recognized that employees, in appropriate circumstances, may preserve their employment status with the City when FMLA leave has been exhausted. Employees who remain employed after the expiration of FMLA leave will use any accrued, but unused, paid time off benefits; however, the employee will not continue to accrue additional benefits entitlements after exhaustion of ~~his or her~~ **the employee's** FMLA leave and all paid leave. In addition, employees

who remain employed with the City after their FMLA leave and all paid leave has been exhausted will be afforded the opportunity to continue medical insurance under federal law (COBRA), and the employee will be responsible to pay the COBRA premiums.

~~24.09 Blood Donation Release Time. Up to one hour of release time will be given to employees once per calendar year during their work day to donate blood at any City sponsored blood donation event. Request for approval must be made no less than 48 hours in advance. Approval will be given except where denied for operational needs. The employee must provide documentation to the supervisor upon their return to work verifying their participation in the blood donation event.~~

ARTICLE 25 LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM

25.01 Purpose. The purpose of this Article is to establish regulations governing the operation of a Leave Donation Program that allows employees to voluntarily donate vacation leave, compensatory time, and sick leave to another employee when the employee experiences a catastrophic illness/injury, or when such an employee's immediate family member experiences such an illness or injury requiring the employee's personal care and attendance, and the employee has exhausted all of ~~his/her~~ **the employee's** sick leave, vacation leave, compensatory time, or other applicable paid leave balance.

25.02 Definitions.

Catastrophic Illness/Injury – a devastating illness or injury that is expected to incapacitate the employee or a member of the employee's immediate family for an extended period of time, provided that taking extended time off from work creates a financial hardship for the employee because ~~he/she~~ **the employee** has exhausted all leave balances. Catastrophic illnesses or injuries would commonly include, but are not necessarily limited to the following: cancer, AIDS, heart attack, heart surgery, stroke, or permanent paralysis.

Donation – the act of voluntarily, unconditionally, and irrevocably surrendering a portion of one's sick leave, vacation leave, personal leave, and/or compensatory time to a qualified employee.

Immediate Family Member - Mother, father, spouse, son, daughter, stepson, stepdaughter, legal guardian, or someone who legally stands in place of a parent.

25.03 Program Regulations.

A. Eligibility Eligibility to donate leave or to receive donated leave under this program shall be limited to United Steelworkers bargaining unit members. Eligibility to receive donated leave under this program shall also be limited to those employees who have a total of 120 hours or less in all forms of paid leave in the aggregate (i.e. sick leave, vacation leave, compensatory time) at the time of their written request to receive donated leave, and who have not been disciplined for leave abuse the two (2) years prior to the date of their request to receive donated leave.

B. Request for Leave When an employee has less than a total of 120 hours in all forms of paid leave (as specified above) in the aggregate, the employee may initiate a request for assistance. The request shall be forwarded to the affected employee's Department Head and the Director of Human Resources for review and consideration of the facts and circumstances specific to the Employee's need. Such review shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, an assessment of a written certification from the employee's physician regarding the employee's or family member's medical condition, an analysis of the employee's sick leave usage and overall work history with the City of Gahanna, and consideration of input provided by the Department's Supervisory/managerial staff. Following this review by the affected employee's Department Head and the Director of Human Resources, the Director of Human Resources may recommend approval for receipt of donated leave to the Mayor. The Mayor shall make the final decision regarding approval of the employee's request. The final decision to approve or disapprove the request rests within the sole discretion of the Mayor.

C. Donation Process, Procedures & Requirements Should the employee's request to receive donated leave be approved by the Mayor, employees (herein called donors) who desire to contribute leave time shall complete a "Leave Donation Form", a copy of which is attached. Such forms shall be made available by the Division of Human Resources. The donor shall designate on the form the name of the employee who is to be the recipient of the donated leave and the amount of such donated leave. It is the employee's or employee's designee's responsibility to request donations of leave from fellow employees.

Leave shall be donated in the following sequence and amounts for each approved recipient:

- 1) The first sixteen (16) hours of any donation shall be vacation leave. If the donor does not have vacation time available, this requirement may be waived or reduced by the Department Head.
- 2) After sixteen (16) hours of vacation leave have been donated, or waived as specified above, sick leave may then be donated. Sick leave donations shall be limited to thirty-two hours. After thirty-two hours of sick leave donation has been reached, the entire donation sequence may begin again starting with item #1 above.

D. Minimum Donation Increments The minimum amount of leave time which can be donated shall be one (1) hour. Donors may contribute any amount of time at or above one (1) hour in whole amounts (no fractions of an hour can be transferred). However, the donor shall not be allowed to donate an amount of leave which would reduce the donor's leave balance or combination of balances below one hundred and twenty (120) hours of available leave time.

E. Implementation of Donated Leave Should the employee's request to receive donated leave be approved by the Mayor, the Human Resources Department shall facilitate the flow of information and maintain a direct line of communication with the recipient. Upon approval of all Leave Donation Forms by the donor's Department Head, all such forms shall be forwarded directly to the Human Resources Department. The Human Resources Department shall collect all such forms, determine the proper number of hours necessary to satisfy the recipient's need, on a pay

period-by-pay period basis, and match the donated leave hours to the established need (again on a pay period-by-pay period basis) The recipient will receive a rate of pay for these donated hours equivalent to their rate of pay or the donor's rate of pay, whichever is less.

Should the number of donated leave hours exceed the recipient's need for a given pay period, those excess donated leave hours will be held in reserve by the Human Resources Department and will be used to satisfy the recipient's continuing future need for such hours. Should the recipients eligibility to receive donated leave cease, in accordance with Section 25.03 K. ("Eligibility Ceases"), and donated hours remain in the above referenced reserve, these hours will be returned to the donor within a reasonable period of time thereafter. (It is critical to note that once donated leave time is forwarded to the Human Resources Department, and such donated leave time is actually physically transferred from the donor's leave balance to the recipient's sick leave balance, the donor has no right to recover any portion of such leave time except as noted herein.)

F. Donation Credited Upon receipt of all approved Leave Donation Forms, the Department of Human Resources will credit all donated leave time to the recipient's sick leave balance.

G. Conditions on Receipt of Leave Before an employee may receive the donated leave, ~~he/she~~ **the employee** must have exhausted all of ~~his/her~~ **the employee's** sick leave, vacation leave, compensatory time, or other applicable leave balances available to ~~him/her~~ **the employee** (excluding the exception listed below).

Exception: One leave balance designated by the employee (other than sick leave) may contain no more than twenty-four (24) hours of leave time. Such leave time will be held in reserve to allow the employee the opportunity to take some time off following the end of the catastrophic situation, should such time off be needed to attend to family needs.

H. Prohibition on Continued Accrual of Leave While using donated leave, the employee shall not accrue or receive any leave time in excess of the twenty-four (24) hours identified in item G above.

I. Prohibition on Conversion to Cash All donated leave time, regardless of the type, shall be considered to be sick leave and shall only be used under the conditions of sick leave as set forth in the Collective Bargaining Agreement. No cash payments shall be provided to the employee or the surviving spouse of the employee under this program upon separation from service or death of the employee.

J. Continuation of Medical, Dental, Vision, Life Insurance And Other Benefits Employees using donated leave shall be considered to be in paid status solely for the purpose of receiving all medical, dental, vision, and life insurance benefits, step increases, annual service credit, and seniority credit to which they would have otherwise been entitled. However, original or promotional probationary employees using such leave shall have their probationary periods extended by the same length of time for which the employee has used the donated leave.

K. Eligibility Ceases Eligibility to receive donated leave under this program shall cease upon certification from the employee's physician that ~~he/she~~ **the employee** is capable of engaging in sustained regular employment, certification from the employee's family member's physician documenting the family member's recovery from the catastrophic illness/injury, an employee's application for disability retirement which is approved by the appropriate retirement system (Public Employee's Retirement System of Ohio), or death of the employee or employee's family member, whichever should first occur.

L. Medical Certifications and Other Documentation The City reserves the right to insist, at any point in time before, during or after the leave for which the time has been donated, that an employee provide a second health care provider opinion as support for the time off or other documentation relevant to the need for the time off. The health care provider for the second opinion must be approved by the City.

ARTICLE 26 **TUITION REIMBURSEMENT**

26.01 Tuition Reimbursement Program. Each employee in the Bargaining Unit who is subject to the provisions of this Agreement shall be eligible for a reimbursement of tuition for work-related courses of instruction taken towards a degree at an accredited college or university voluntarily undertaken by the employee. Work-related courses means courses that are related to performance of the duties in the employee's current position or which would improve or advance an employee's qualifications for positions the employee may advance to within the City. Tuition reimbursement shall be subject to a maximum limit of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) for Associate or Bachelor's Degrees and seven thousand dollars (\$7,000) for Masters Degrees, or a combination not to exceed seven thousand dollars (\$7,000) annually, per employee, per calendar year.

Those Employees not seeking a degree but requesting to take work-related college level classes may seek reimbursement up to two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) annually.

If seeking a work-related professional certification or recertification that is not a requirement for the position as outlined in the job description, the total amount of two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) may be applied to the course work and examination fees. The City will only pay a one-time reimbursement for such coursework and/or examination fees.

In the event that coursework or examinations must be repeated by the Employee, no further reimbursement will be provided.

26.02 Scheduling of Coursework. All courses must be taken during other than scheduled working hours. All scheduled hours for courses of instruction must be filed with the Department Head, Human Resources Director, and with the Director of the Department of Finance. All scheduled times of courses must be approved by the Department Head. Any situation which, in the discretion of the Department Head, would require an employee's presence on the job, shall take complete and final precedence over any times scheduled for courses.

26.03 Offset. Any financial assistance from any governmental or private agency available to an employee, whether or not applied for and regardless of when such assistance may have been received, shall be deducted in the entire amount from the full tuition reimbursement the employee is eligible for under this Section. If an employee's tuition is fully covered by another governmental or private agency, then the employee is not entitled to any payment from the City.

26.04 Limits. No reimbursement will be granted for books, paper or supplies of whatever nature, transportation, meals or any other expense connected with any course except the cost of tuition.

26.05 Completion of Coursework. Reimbursement for tuition will be made when the employee presents an official certificate or its equivalent and a receipt of payment from the institution confirming satisfactory completion of the approved course and attainment of a C or better grade.

26.06 Reimbursement, When. Employees agree that should they resign from the City within twenty-four (24) months of the employee's completion of seventy-five percent (75%) of any prescribed course of study leading to a degree, and said employee has been reimbursed by the City for tuition expenses, said employee shall repay to the City all monies expended by the City for tuition expenses.

26.07 Additional Job-Related Training. Where the City requires an employee to attend a training program or seminar, the City will pay the tuition. Where a training program or seminar is required for an employee to obtain or keep a certificate or license that is a requirement in the employee's job under federal, state, or local law, the City will pay the tuition. An employee can request reimbursement of tuition for other kinds of job-related training. The City has the sole discretion to decide whether to approve the request.

ARTICLE 27 PERSONAL EXPENSES

27.01 Personal Expenses. The following shall apply to personal expenses incurred by employees related to travel on City business.

27.02 Reimbursement. Any employee, whenever authorized by the Department Head to engage in or upon official daily business for, or on behalf of, the City will be reimbursed for all reasonable expenses incurred, per the City of Gahanna policy. Such employee shall submit a statement of expenses to the Director of Finance with such supporting data as the Director requires.

27.03 Vehicle Reimbursement. This reimbursement for any expenses shall include, but not be limited to, the pay for the use of private automobiles at the rate per mile fixed by the Internal Revenue Service for business travel deductions. Use of private vehicles by employees shall only be after prior approval has been acquired from the Service Director or Department Head and no City vehicles are available.

27.04 Prepayment. Any employee may request prepayment of any expenses. Such request shall be authorized by the Department Head and submitted to the Director of Finance for approval, with

such supporting data as the Director of Finance requires. Such prepayment shall be accounted for to the Director of Finance within thirty (30) days following the expenditure.

ARTICLE 28 **OUTSOURCING**

Except in the case of emergencies where work will be of a short-term duration and must be performed quickly, the City will not outsource to non-employees work which is normally and routinely performed by bargaining unit members without first affording Union representatives advance notice and reasonable opportunity to have input.

ARTICLE 29 **SAFETY COMMITTEE**

A Safety Committee consisting of members of management and bargaining unit members will meet on a regular basis for purposes of reviewing the City's safety programs, policies and training programs. The Safety Committee will be authorized to make recommendations for improvements in the safety programs, policies and training programs. Employees are encouraged to bring to the attention of management and/or to the attention of the Safety Committee any circumstances believed to be unsafe work practices or conditions and no employee may be retaliated against or subjected to any adverse consequence as a result of raising a good-faith concern about a safety matter.

ARTICLE 30 **MISCELLANEOUS**

30.01 Bulletin Boards. The Union shall be permitted to construct, install and maintain one bulletin board per building where employees of the Union work. The Union agrees that the bulletin board will be used solely for Union business and that the board will not be used for matters other than solely Union business. All materials other than internal Union business will be subject to removal by the Mayor or Service Director.

30.02 Agreement Copies. ~~As soon as is possible following the signing of this Agreement, the City shall have copies of this Agreement for all employees of the Bargaining Unit, including copies to any new Bargaining Unit employees who are hired during the life of this Agreement.~~ **Each party is responsible for obtaining their own copies of this Agreement. Any union employee that wishes to have a copy of the collective bargaining agreement shall be given access to a city printer in order to print their own copy.**

30.03 Termination During the Probationary Period. An employee may be terminated without cause during ~~his/her~~ **the employee's** initial probationary period.

30.04 Union Leave. The Union shall be permitted to have five (5) employees who are Union members attend, without pay and for a maximum of five working days, Union conventions as a duly elected delegate or alternate.

One hundred twenty (120) hours of City paid leave will be allowed per calendar year specifically to be divided among Union labor management committee members and contract negotiation committee members to attend the Leadership Training program sponsored by the Union. This one hundred twenty (120) hours of paid leave does not count as paid status for purposes of overtime calculation.

No more than one employee from each division will be allowed leave under this section at one time unless management in the Division grants permission in advance.

30.05 Mailbox. The Union shall be permitted to utilize a mailbox, as designated by the City, for the purpose of receiving U.S. mail and for communications from the City.

30.06 Headings. It is understood and agreed that the use of headings before Articles is for convenience only and that no heading shall be used in the interpretation of said Article nor affect any interpretation of any such Article.

30.07 Commercial Driver's License. When, as a condition of employment, an employee must have a commercial driver's license, the city will reimburse the employee for the difference in cost between a commercial driver's license and a regular driver's license. Individuals with CDL's require drug testing, and the city will see that such drug testing is performed in accordance with the law.

30.08 Hepatitis B. The City will agree to pay for vaccines for employees who could be exposed to Hepatitis B and who desire to have a vaccine.

30.09 Drug Testing. The City may drug test **all bargaining unit employees with reasonable suspicion** "~~for cause,~~" and it may also mandate drug testing for all new hires. **Reasonable suspicion means an articulated belief based on particularized information or observations and reasonable inferences from such particularized information or observations, which would suggest that a member may be in violation of this Section. All CDL licensed drivers are subject to random drug testing.**

30.10 Employee Wellness Tools Incentive Program. Should employee coverage change under 20.02, each employee and ~~his or her~~ covered spouse will be allocated jointly a \$400 amount each year; as reimbursement for or payment for certain wellness-related expenses as set forth in the City Employee Wellness Tools Incentive Program. Wellness-related expenses covered by the program are detailed in the written Program Summary, a copy of which will be given to all employees.

All services, programs, or items for which an employee seeks reimbursement or payment under the Employee Wellness Tools Incentive Program must have been obtained and completed on or before the employee's last day of paid, active employment with the City. Also, reimbursement out of a \$400 allocation will only be made under this program for services, programs, or items obtained within the same calendar year. Therefore, in order to receive any reimbursement or payment under this program, the services, programs, or items must be completed or obtained by December 31, and the request for reimbursement or payment must be submitted to

the City by January 7 of the following calendar year. Employees will not be reimbursed all or any portion of a payment for services, programs, or items not obtained or completed by December 31 and not submitted to the City for reimbursement on or before January 7 of the following calendar year. All reimbursements and payments under this program are subject to applicable federal, state, and local taxes.

Should the allotment be increased for any other City employees in this incentive program, the same increase will automatically be given to the employees covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 31 DEFINITIONS

31.01 Allocation. The official determination of the classification to which a position in the classified service belongs.

31.02 Anniversary Date. The employee's date of hiring into a full-time position.

31.03 Appointing Authority. Any officer, board, agency, commission or person having the power to make appointments to positions in the City service.

31.04 Appointment. The designation of a person, by due authority, to become a City employee.

31.05 Classification. A position or group of positions having similar duties and responsibilities, requiring similar qualifications, which can be properly designated by the same descriptive title and to which the same scale of compensation can be made to apply with equity as determined by the Human Resources Department and approved by City Council.

31.06 Classified Service. All positions and employments not specifically included by provisions of the City Charter in the unclassified service or otherwise exempt from the classified Civil Service as provided by law, City ordinance or rules and regulations of the Civil Service Commission.

31.07 Continuous Service. Service shall be considered continuous service with the City of Gahanna for an employee except where interrupted by resignation, retirement or discharge for cause. However, time off because of suspension, leave of absence without pay (except for military leave or leave due to injury in line of duty) or layoff due to lack of work or funds, shall be deducted in computing service credit. Resignation in order to immediately accept another position in the City service shall not be considered as an interruption of service.

31.08 Immediate Family. Spouse, son, daughter, brother, sister, parent, guardian, grandparent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, step-father, step-mother, step-sister, step-brother, step-son, step-daughter, half-brother, half-sister, grandchild, and grandparent-in-law, provided that 'in-laws' and 'step' are in the current legal status.

31.09 Reallocation. A change in the allocation of a position by assigning the position to a different classification on the basis of re-evaluation of, changes in, variations in the duties and responsibilities of the position, or to correct an error in the previous classification.

31.10 Service Credit. The completion of each one-year period of continuous employment.

31.11 Temporary Employment. Active service with the City for not more than 180 work days continuous or for not more than 180 work days or 1,440 hours in one year.

ARTICLE 32 OBLIGATION TO NEGOTIATE

32.01 Right to Negotiate. The City and the Union acknowledge that during negotiations which preceded this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining negotiations and that the understanding and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement.

32.02 Complete Agreement. For the life of this Agreement, the parties each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waive the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to negotiate collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to, or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated and signed this agreement.

ARTICLE 33 WORK RULES AND INFORMATION ORDERS

33.01 Work Rules. The City Administration agrees that, to the extent possible, work rules shall be reduced to writing and provided to all employees in advance of their enforcement. The City Administration will provide the Union copies of any revised or new written work rules, policies, regulations and Training Bulletins, in advance of their intended effective dates.

ARTICLE 34 DURATION OF AGREEMENT AND SEPARABILITY

34.01 Duration. This Agreement represents the complete Agreement on all matters subject to bargaining between the City and the Union and except as otherwise noted herein shall become effective upon ratification by the parties and shall remain in full force and effect until midnight, January 1, 2023~~6~~.

34.02 Separability. If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement, for any reason, is held to be unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions or sections of this Agreement. The City and Union hereby declare that it entered into this Agreement voluntarily, and each section, subsection, paragraph, sentence or clause or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, clauses or phrases may be declared unconstitutional or invalid.

In the event a portion of this Agreement is declared invalid or unenforceable, the parties will, at the request of either party hereto, promptly negotiate relative to the particular provisions deemed invalid or unenforceable.

34.03 Legislative Approval. It is agreed by and between the parties that any provision of this Agreement requiring legislative action to permit its implementation by amendment of law or by providing the additional funds therefore, shall not become effective until the appropriate legislative body has given its approval.

ARTICLE 35 EXECUTION

35.01 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed this ____ day of _____, 202023

United Steelworkers

City of Gahanna

Thomas Conway, International President

Laurie A. Jadwin, Mayor

John Shinn, International Secretary-Treasurer

Director of Public Service

David McCall, International Vice-President
(Administration)

Stephania Bernard-Ferrell, Director of
Parks and Recreation

Fred Redmond, International Vice-President
(Human Affairs)

Joann Bury, Director of Finance

Donald E. Blatt, District 1 Director

Miranda Vollmer, Director of
Administrative Services

Mark Shaw, Key Staff Representative

Jourdan Day, Attorney

Kevin Koehler, Unit Chair, Local 9110

Jeremy Boller, Committee Member, Local 9110

Andy Flautt, Committee Member, Local 9110

Adam Grove, Committee Member, Local 9110

Curtis Martin, Committee Member, Local 9110

Approved as to form:

Damien Palombaro, Committee Member, Local 9110

Ray Mularski, City Attorney